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Cultural features

1. Neadquarters—- homses & barss.

2-Sugar hewse &/er main residence.

3. Tesant worker cabiss .

4-Windlass came darricy .

5. Main diteh.

€. Main ontfall diteh with drainage
machinme .

1. Front ditchlevea—roay.

8.Rear diteh & lovee.

8. Plastation reads.
T0. Barataria Public Read(s).

11. Plastation railread.

of the Christmas Plantation, 1865-1910.



Christmas Plantation Headquarters area, looking SE. 2/23/86.
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J. A, d'Hémécourt, "Plan of 31 Valuable Tracts of Land Situated |
in the Parish of Jefferson, District of Barataria," November 3}, 4

1865,

Lemoine, widow Pierre Rocheforit

Annexed to act of sale of land from Marie Julie Gabrielle
» to Henry Chapron, November 11,

1865, E. J. Gottschalk, notary, NONA.
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In 1865-66, when Rufus King Cutler and Pierre Ernest
Beauvais purchased the original tracts of lands for the
Christmas Plantation from Marie Julie Gabrielle Lemoine,
widow of Pierre Rochefort, the land was probably entirely
forested. It had not been cultivated for half a century,
and the first task of tﬁe new owners was to clear the 1and.1

Cutler and Beauvais gave the plantation the name of
"Christmas" because the act of sale by which they purchased
the first tract was made on December 23, 1865. This sale
was for a 20-by-40-arpent tract bordering both sides of
Bayou des Familles, stretching southﬁard from the bend of
the bayou above its confluence with Bayou Coquilles. On
July 27, 1866, they purchased another tract measuring 20 by
10 arpents adjoining the south end of the first tract. The
plantation thus stretched for 50 arpents along the bayou.
It occupied the center portions of the 10-arpent tracts
originally belonging to Alexandre Guerbois and Antoine
Marigny Dauterive. The southern limit lay upon the 1794
property line»between the Spanish land grants of Louis
Pelteau and John Normand. This property line is today
marked by an electric powerline right-of-way which forms the
boundary of the park and the study area.2

On November 3, 1865, this 50-arpent strip had been
subdivided into 10 5-by-20-arpent tracts crossing Bayou des
Familles by surveyor J. A. d'Hémécourt in order that the

Widow Rochefort might offer the land for sale as small farm
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clots. The Civil War and slavery had both come to an end,
and the sugar'industry was almost non-existent in Louisiana.
Many former plantations were being subdivided and sold to
small farmers. D'Hémécourt's five-arpent tracts were
reminiscent of the five-arpent tracts granted to the Canary
Islanders on Bayou des Familles by Spanish Governor Galvez
in 1778. However, the 10 five-arpent tracts purchased by
cutler and Beauvais were for the establishment of a sugar
plantation.3

Rufus King Cutler was born in Virginia and had lived in
Louisiana for 20 years. A New Orleanian, he played a
prominent role in Reconstruction politics. He was a
delegate to the Convention for the Revision and Amendment of
the Constitution of Louisiana in 1864. On the same year, he
was elected by the new State legislature to replace John
Slidell in the United States Senate. However, Congress did
not allow Cutler and other Louisiana senators to take their
seats.h

Pierre Ernest Beauvais was born in 1829 on Bayou
Lafourche and moved to New Orleans as a child. Rufus King
Cutler's wife, Marie Palmyre Beauvais, was probably Pierre
Ernest's sister. Cutler sold his undivided half of the
plantation to Beauvais on November 5, 1866. Through
bankruptcy and mortgages, Beauvais operated the plantation
for 27 years.S

Between 1869 and 1884, Beauvais' yearly sugar produc-

tion on the Christmas Plantation ranged between 21 hogsheads
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and 350 hogsﬁeads. However, he was never free of debt. He
owed mortgéges on the property, payments on loans for
supplies and sugar-making equipment, and taxes, By 1876,
Pierre Beauvais was bankrupt. The Plantation was sold at
public auction to the New Orleans National Banking Associa-
tion for $6700.00. The bank then leased the plantation to
Pierre's son, William Coiler Beauvais, who wag "g minor in
the twenty first year of his age, but duly emancipated under
a judgement of the Honorable Parish Court of and for the
Parish of Jefferson" to engage the lease. In 1879, the bank
sold the plantation to the elder Beauvais for $15,000, with
payments to be made by promissory notes.6

After the abolition of slavery, planters were forced to
experiment with new ways to profitably cultivate sugarcane
and manufacture sugar. Advances in technology reduced the
need for hand labor, but sugar-making machinery was
expensive and the costs indebted many Planters. New systems
of labor were tried, including profit-sharing agreements or
share cropping, leasing of the land, and tenant systems.
White laborers were hired, and efforts were made to import
Chinese and German laborers. However, most of the hired
hands were freed Negro slaves.7

Most of the field hands on the Christmas Plantation ‘
were probably Negroes, but Pierre Beauvais sometimes leased ;
portions of the cane fields to other Planters to cultivate
the cane. Beauvais divided the fields into one-arpent lots }

|

and, in 1874, leased four lots to Julius Madison Johnson and
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three lots to Augustin Daspit. The contracts are interest-
ing examples of post-Civil War efforts to reorganize the

plantation labor system. Beauvais' contract with Johnson is

quoted below.8

8th March 1874 State of Louisiana
Contract City of New Orleans

|
P. E. Beauvais |

with : ‘
J. M. Johnson

, Be it known that this day before me Charles
Stringer, a Notary Public in and for the City of

New Orleans Parish of Orleans and State of

Louisiana aforesaid duly commissioned and -
qualified .

Personally appeared Peter E. Beauvais, and
with him also appeared Julius Madison Johmson both
of of the Parish of Jefferson in this State.

Who declared that they have contracted and
agreed mutually as follows to wit:

The said Beauvais has agreed to let unto saigd
Johnson for one year commencing from the First of
January A.D. 1874. A certain tract of land first ,
of said Beauvais Sugar Plantation situated in the
district of Barataria, Parish of Jefferson, and
known as Lots one, two, three and four, above the
Sugar house on said plantation, said lots fronting
on the Bayou des Familles and running to the
Public road except Lot No. one, which runs as far
as now planted with cane, and containing in all,
about thirty-three arpents of land in superficial
areas. Twenty-two and a half of which is now in
lst year stubble and four and a half in 2nd year
stubble and the balance unplanted.

Said Beauvais in addition binds himself to
furnish the necessary team and implements to
cultivate said land, and advancing all seed cane
necessary to plant and tract free of charges to
said Johnson; also furnishing all necessary timber
for fuel in the manufacture of sugar and molasses
from said crop, without extra charges; also
agreeing to furnish the sugar house in good repair
at the proper time to be used in grinding and
making said crop; also furnishing the necessary
cabin or plantation house for the residence of
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said Johnson.

And the said Johnson on his part binds and
obligates himself to truly and thoroughly ditch
the above described land, line the 2nd years
stubble with a good stand of sugar cane, plant the
unplanted lands in a good stand of cane, with rows
seven feet, two canes and lap, throughout each
row: the whole of the ditching and planting to be
completely finished by the lst day of April 1874.
Also binding himself to cultivate and drain during
the growing season the whole of said tract of land
to the satisfaction of said Beauvais: also to chop
and haul to the Sugar House in time to be fit for
use, at least five cords for each arpent of cane
cultivated; Also to pay all expenses that may
accrue in the raising and manipulating said crop

- and putting it in a marketable shape of sugar and
molasses in the sugar house, and then to deliver
to said Beauvais one full third 1/3 as his share
of the crop for which a lien and privilege is
hereby granted to said Beauvais for said share as
well as for all advances he said Beauvais may make
to said Johnson, in the raising of said crop. It
is also understood that sufficient seed cane shall
be retained out of the crop, free of charge to
said Beauvais, to replace that furnished by him,
for planting purposes as herein before mentioned.
Any other crops raised on said land are to be
governed by the same provisions as above.

The said Johnson alsc agreeing to keep in-good
repair and free from obstruction the main roads
and bridges across said land for the use of the
plantation.

The said Beauvais only furnishing team for
crop purposes, and charging feed of team while so
used.

The said Beauvais to have the management of
the sugar house, hiring of extra hands, while
rolling or grinding, and all hands working during
grinding season, whether croppers or not, shall be
paid alike, according to quality of hands and when
grinding is over, the expenses of grinding so
shall be paid by the croppers, in proportion to
the amount of sugar they may have respectively
made.

Unlike most pre-Civil War planters, Beauvais probably
did manual labor on the plantation, and his family probably

helped work in the fields, barnyard, and vegetable garden.
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pierre Beauvais was married to Philomena Octavia Walker. In
1883, his brother, William St. James Beauvais, a widower,
died "in destitute circumstances'" and left four children,
Francis W., aged 18; Joseph Rafael, aged 16; Rufus, aged 14;
and Cecile, aged 7. Pierre Beauvais was named their tutor.
He also had at least one son and one daughter.9
In 1880, Pierre Beauvais purchased more land adjoining
the north end of the plantation tfact from Joseph H. Oglesby
for $1500, to be paid in promissory notes. The additional
tract contained about 530 superficial arpents. The property
had been part of the adjoining Carter Plantation. Upon -

Carter's bankruptcy, it had been sold at public auction in

1875 to John A. Peel and Byron M. Pond. Oglesby acquired
10

am—

the property from Peel and Pond in 1877.

The total measurements of the Christmas Plantation were
about three quarters of a mile wide and two and a half miles
long. The whole property was not put in cultivation. Some
areas were reserved for cutting timber and grazing cattle.
By 1891, there were 150 head of cattle and 18 head of mules
on the plantation.11

In 1885, the Christmas Plantation sugar house burned.
Beauvais began cultivating rice, a crop that many neighbor-
ing Barataria planters were now growing. He mortgaged the
plantation to Charles Joseph Brown in 1890 and, again, in
1891, 12

Charles Joseph Brown was born in New Orleans in 1850.

His widowed mother opened a grocery in the town of Harvey in
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1867, c. J., as.he was called, worked on the tow-path of
che Harvey Canal pulling barges, luggers, and skiffs, He
pecame manager and later, owner, of the grocery store which
was named Half Way House.13
Beauvais became deeply indebted to Brown through
mortgages, loans, and credit purchases at Brown's store.
Beauvais sent messages to Brown by boats passing up the

Harvey Canal, and Brown sent provisions by packet steamers

going down the canal. Among the items. Beauvais ordered from

Brown in the early 1890s werela

tobacco whiskey
crackers mosquito bars
macaroni butter

_flour buckets
coal grits
lime lamp chimmeys
lard blue jeans
rice cottonade shirts  _
corn garlic
oats turnip seed
potatoes lettuce seed
meat by the shoulder radish seed
onions cabbage seed
red beans ladies shoes
candles bolt cotton
lamp wicks stockings
salt calico
coffee sauce pans
starch ' bowls
an umbrella rope
socks a broom
black eye peas soap
lady peas thread
cow peas blueing
matches - oil
baking powder washing soda
white beans cod fish

Beauvais would jot notes on his supply orders to Brown,
such as "Mrs. Beauvais wishes 4 sacks of good corn for her

chickens for Monday's trip of boat." Brown also paid the
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wages of some of‘Beauvais' hired hands, Billy Saddlemeyer,
john Donaldson, Mack Connelly, and Leon Robichaux who
1abored on the rice crop and chopped wood.15

In 1891, Beauvais leased 230 arpents of the Christmas
Plantation, '"together with the use of certain buildings
thereon, also the use of one boiler and engine'" to Melancie
Robicheaux and Gracien Rome to plant and cultivate rice.
The lease was made "in consideration of one fifth of all the
rice raised on the said tract of land and delivered in packs
at the thresher."®

In 1892, Beauvais again planted the 230 arpents, which -
were leveed and dammed, in rice. He wrote to Brown "I have
been pumping night and day for two weeks and elevating twice
as much water as ever before and have not yet been able to
saturate the whole field the drought is so severe."IT

Beauvais sold the plantation to Brown in 1893 for
$11,346.40 which was the sum of Beauvais' mortgages plus
interest. Brown returned the Christmas Plantation to the
cultivation of sugarcane. He and his wife, Louisa Meyers,
apparently did not live on the plantation but rather
remained in Harvey.18

C. J. Brown encountered financial problems similar to
those experienced by Beauvais. He mortgaged the plantation
several times. In 1899, he contracted with neighboring

Southside Plantation to sell cane and to build a railroad to

his cane field. Southside Plantation Company advanced Brown
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the money to build the railroad, and Brown mortgaged the

railroad to Southside.19

According to C. J. Brown's grandson, Dr. Charles Odom,

~ a river crevasse flood ruined Brown's sugarcane crop. He

sold the plantation in 1903 to George H. T. Shaw. On the
same day that the act of sale was passed, Shaw leased the
plantation to Southside Plantation Company for the cultiva-
tion of sugarcane, together with mules, equipment, and
buildings. The lease was to expire on January 1, 1904, and
this date may have marked the end of the active years of the

Christmas Plantation.20 -

CULTURAL FEATURES OF THE CHRISTMAS PLANTATION

Numerous cultural features dating from the period of
the Christmas Plantation remain on the land in the study
area, as shown on the maps in this report. The field
patterns are the most noticeable and widespread feature.
Their reforested appearance today is described earlier in
the chapter '"The Patchwork of Hardwood Succession in the
Study Area."

The field ditches are about six feet wide and are
spaced about 100 feet apart. The beds and furrows of the
old cane fields are about five feet apart. 1In the pecan
orchard, the behs and furrows are much larger, but the field

ditches from the cane fields remain. The fields are fronted

at the bayou by levees and a large ditch. The main ditch



190,

asses through the fields following the semi- -circular crest
-¢ the old east bank natural levee. The perpendlcular main
outfall ditch had a waterwheel or pump. These are the
1argest and deepest ditches on the plantation. They are as
ouch as eight feet wide and four feet deep. 014 field roads
chat are about 15 feet wide can still be seen in the woods,
and their routes are shown on the maps in this report.

The following historic instructions for the cultivation
of sugarcane and rice in south Louisiana are probably close

descriptions of the methods used on the Christmas

Plantation.
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Pacan orchard area, May 17, 1945, National Ocean Survey for the National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, C&0S 20 LA.1250 29 90 C 2790, National Archives, Washington D. C.
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Principal area of the Christmas Plantation sugarcane fields.
A: Sugarcane fields. B: Sugarcane fields reused as pecan
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR CULTIVATING A FALLOW LOUISIANA SUGARCANE
PLANTATION OF THE POST-CIVIL WAR PERIOD

from L. Bouchereau, statement of the Sugar and Rice Crops,

Co., 1871), pp. X-Xx1ii.

To begin as it were from nothing, we suppose you buy
a plantation that has been abandoned for a long time and

is a mere "wild waste."

The first thing to be done, after clearing off weeds,
briers and small timber, and burning them up, is to clean
out all ditches and canals -and to dig new ones. Remember
that water is the greatest enemy of the cane, and that to
insure a crop you must have a sufficiency of ditches to
carry off rain water at once. No money spent in ditching
is thrown away, the more ditches you have the better.

In breaking up the land, use four-horse plows and run
them as deep as you can; in clay soils it is not unusual
to see a plow drawn by three pairs of horses or three yoke
of oxen. When all turned over, go over again with lighter
plows and harrows and rest not satisfied till your land is
mellow. If your land has thus been prepared in the fall
of the year, you can plant cane on it in February, but if
this first breaking up is done in January oOr February, it
would be unprofitable to plant more cane than will suffice ‘
for seed the coming year. You should in this case plant
corn, and when the corn is laid by plant peas through it,
and in September when the corn has been housed, go over
your field with a heavy four or six horse plow and plow in
all the corn stalks and pea vines, thus securing the verv

best bed for planting cane.

Made in Louisiana in 1870-71 (New Orleans: Young, Bright &

As stated above, we presume that your land has been
thoroughly broken up and pulverized in the fall-we will
now prepare to plant the cane.

Lay off your rows SiX and a half feet apart, and open
down deep with a subsoil plow to let the rain water filter
through. (Take good care to have cross drains at least at
every forty yards where your leading ditches are two acres
from each other; and when these are but one acre apart let
your cross drailns be not more than seventy yards apart.)
After this bed up, or as we call it flush up, and open
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again twice, back and forth; then run a fluke plow Jjust
deep enough to allow your canes (when laid down in their
place) to be on a level with the water furrow between the
rows. In no case must the canes be more than two inches
below the furrow, because "water 1is the greatest enemy of
the cane."

February is the best month 1in which to plant cane,
for then you need not cover the seed with more than two or
three inches of earth, thereby saving one scraping, (which
canes planted in the fall have now to undergo) and as the
soil is now loose the spring heat easily penetrates to the

cane and causes it to germinate at once.

Your furrows being all ready lay down your canes side
by side, four inches apart, lapping them over about eight
inches and laying the tops all down in the same direction,
so that the lap will always show two tops and two butts,
thus egualizing the number of sound "eyes”" which are
generally greater in the butts than the tops.

Having arrived at the first cross drain, leave the
spate necessary and begin again beyond it, and so on to
the end of the row. A one horse plow, or a light two
horse plow, comes behind and throws dirt over the cane,
leaving a clean water furrow on each side of the row. The
plow is followed by a hoe to break up small lumps and
cover up what the plow may have left uncovered, and
particularly to keep clear all the cross drains. This
covering of the seed with earth is best done by the use of
the hoe alone, without using the plow, but at the present
price of labor this would be too expensive. The plow
causes the canes to crowd together sometimes, which would
be avoided by the use of the hoe alone.

In dropping or dumping the cart loads of seed cane,
the driver should commence at a distance from the leading
ditch, say six rows, and continue on the seventh parallel
row, and at short intervals, so that the planters can
plant on each side of the load, saving thereby some
distance in carrying the seed. In the evening before
retiring from the field, see that every drain 1is clear, so
as to be always prepared for a rain.

Your cane being all planted, direct your attention to
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your other crops.

Towards the end of March you may scrape a little,
that is remove some of the soil from on top the seed,
taking care not to uncover too much before the 10th of
April, for we sometimes have ice in the month of Aprii,
and if your cane is too much uncovered and the bud gets
frozen below ground, your crop is irretrievably lost!

After the 10th of April you can repeat the operation
of scraping, leaving only some two inches of earth. Stir
up the ground between the rows with a light plow.

By the 20th of April every sprout should be out of
the ground, and you are now to cultivate so as to make
each sprout bring forth tenfold if possible. Remember
that the closer the sprouts are to the surface, the sooner
will they sucker, i.e. produce new sprouts. 1In new lands
canes will sucker very fast, but in old lands they reguire
a great deal of care and labor. If you find the young
plants losing their color, a little more earth must be
added; if growing too vigorously, bar off and draw away;
if too dry, plow up and draw in; if too wet, do your best
to keep clear of the grass.

Towards the end of April you will perceive little
shoots coming up from each sprout; stir the earth back and
forth around these, taking care to add but little earth to
the sprouts until they have attained sufficient size to
bear plowing to. If some are more forward in suckering
than others, add a little earth to these.

When you think you have enough suckers, commence to
add soil in earnest. Run a deep furrow off, next to your
cane, then break up to your canes and finally, from the
15th of June to the middle of August (when the crop is
laid by) keep busy with the hoe, f£illing in dirt well
around the plants to protect the stubble against the
coming winter's ices. And, in finally laying by your
crop, be careful to-open well all your furrows and cross
drains and leaving them perfectly free to carry off water.

The cane crop being laid by, your next care is to
prepare first for the coming grinding, and to house your
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hay and corn. This being done, plow in all corn stalks
and pea vines, and after allowing them a few days, prepare
your ground for planting, and commence planting, and keep
at it till Oct. 5th, when you should begin to save your
seed cane.

In fall planting follow the directions given for
February planting, except that you must cover the cane deep
to protect the sprouts from the colds of winter.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR DRAINAGE AND IRRIGATION OF LOUISIANA
SUGARCANE PLANTATIONS IN THE LATE NINETEENTH CENTURY

from William C. Stubbs, Sugar Cane, A Treatise on the
History, Botany and Agriculture of Sugar Cane, and the
Chemistry and Manufacture of its Juices into Sugar, and
Other Products, vol. 1 (Baton Rouge: Bureau of Agriculture
and Immigration, 1897), pp. 42-47.

DRAINAGE.

Nowhere on earth is drainage more essential than in
the alluvial districts of Louisiana, and while many planta-
tions may be considered well drained, the average plamter
has not yet fully appreciated the necessity for multiplying
open ditches to the extent of forcing his soils to their
fullest capacity. This is evidenced by a trip over the
State and observing the varying distances between ditches
which obtain in different plantations.

Only in very dry seasons can badly drained lands be
made to yield large crops. Since these urfortunately occur
only at long intervals, the average yields on such lands
are far below their natural capacity. On badly drained
lands neither fertilizer nor cultivation have their full
effects, hence the discordant opinions which frequently
prevail among our planters, from the use of the same ferti-
lizer or the same method of cultivation. From the exper-
ience of this Station it is almost impossible to be "over-
drained," provided the work of draining be intelligently
performed. It is well for every planter to study his system
of drainage, examine his ditches, see if they be deep enough,
wide enough and sufficiently abundant to carry off our heav-
iest rainfalls and retain the "bottom or ground water" at a
constant depth below the surface. Excellent results can be



195,

obtained with open ditches, provided they are numerous, deep
and wide.

In the lower sugar district these ditches should be at
least as close as 100 to 125 feet, and deep enough to hold
the bottom water at least three feet below the surface.

The expense and attention annually reguired for the
preservation of open ditches and the loss of land incident
to them, together with many other disadvantages would force
all of our planters soconer or later to adopt

Tile Drainage,

but for the great first cost, and to the absence of fall in
the lands, by which the tiles can clean themselves. Tiles
laid with great care on the Sugar Experiment Station, are
gradually filling up with silt, and apprehension is felt
that at an early day they will have to be abandoned and a
return made to open ditches. There is not a great fall in
the canal beyond the station into which the tiles empty,
and every heavy rainfall backs the water over the mouths of

the discharging tiles, checking the flow from the latter. -

This may account for the filling of our tiles with silt.
This is greatly to be regretted, since the superiority of
tiles over open ditches is apparent in every operation of
the farm, from the flushing of the land to the harvesting

of the crop, the great objection to the former being the_
large outlay of money required in putting the tile down.

It is confidently believed, however, that the decreased cost
of subsequent cultivation, the increased area of land and
the enchanced acre yields of products, to say nothing of the
numerous and continuous little expenses and annoyances inci-
dent to open ditches will more than pay the interest on the
investment and leave yearly a handsome balance for a sinking
fund, which in a short time will liquidate the principal re-
quired for their construction.

The results have uniformly shown increased tonnage in
all those plats where tiles have been used. This increased
tonnage has, however, heen attended with a decreased sugar
content, a result which was to be expected from the known
benefits of tiles. Upon tiled lands canes appear earlier in
the spring and is the last to be killed in winter by the
frost. This has several times been demonstrated on this sta-
tion on plats with the same exposure and differing in condi-
tions only in drainage.

Great care is needed in putting down tiles, and only ex-
perienced engineers should be entrusted with the work, since
if proper grades be not giver to the fall of the tile more
harm than good may be accomplished. Again, the capacity of
tiles of various sizes, as well as an acquaintance with our



.heaviest rainfalls, must be known so that proper calculations
may be made for the selection of tile sufficiently large to
take off our heaviest rainfalls in a given time. It must be
remembered that in this climate rainfalls of 5 to 7 inches
sometimes occur. Owing to the humidity of our local cli-
mate a large part of these rainfalls must be drained off.

The character of our soils also prevents rapid downward per-
colation. Tiles are too small when they will not drain off

closes the drain pores of the soils and temporarily obstructs
the efficacy of the tiles.

Tables giving the capacity of different sized tiles are
given in nearly all the works on drainage. The amount of
water falling upon an acre may be easily calculated in gal-
lons when the inches of rainfall are observed. It is there-
fore easy to avoid this error by simply learning the heaviest
daily rainfall known to this country, calculating the area to

It is even yet uncertain whether tiled drainage will
permit of the entire closure of open ditches and quarter-
drains on lands having a uniform fall from the banks of the

outlet through the tiles, Hence a quarter-drain is needed to
let off this accumulated surface water.

Perhaps running the rows at right angles to the slope of '
the land and as near level as possible, may correct this ap-
parent difficulty.

Too much emphasis cannot be laid upon the importance of
drainage to our sugar lands, and when a planter thinks he is
well drained he will probably increase his vields and pro-
fits by doubling his ditches and quarter-drains.

IRRIGATION.

The Louisiana sugar planter of to-day is confronted with
low prices and unreliable labor, depleted soils and reduced
vields, reciprocity treaties and increased imports, monopo-
listic trusts and monied combinations, prolonged drouths and
injurious rainfalls. He must therefore call to his aid |
eévery means which will remove the obstacles to maximum crop |
production. Next to drainage, irrigation is perhaps the most ‘

° , . 1
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..~ded factor in the problem of annual large crops. A full
ﬁ}op is rarely obtained oftener than once in five years,

.~d eighty per cent. of the failures are assignable directly
;o drouths. Irrigation, therefore, eliminates the great
.1ement of chance from our planting operations, and together
w1th good drainage make the planter nearly independent of
the freaks and idiosyncrasies of the weather.

From accurately kept meteorological records it is
learned that maximum crops of sugar are made in Louisiana
after a mild, dry winter, succeeded by a spring with mod-
erate rains, well distributed; in their turn supplanted by
abundant showers at close intervals during June, July and
August, winding up with decreased rainfall in September,
with the remainder of the fall dry and clear. We cannot con-
trol the dry and warm winters, but we can mitigate the ef-
fects of a wet, cold one by proper drainage, and we can give
our crops abundant water in the summer months by irrigation.
Whenever we realize that water is the most essential chem-
ical ingredient supplied to our plants and is needed for the
transportation of all the other ingredients through the -
plant, then will provision be made to supply it in needful
quantities, when rain is withheld. The amount of water
needed by cane plants has already been dwelt upon. The con-
tents of the cells must be kept moist. The protoplasm of
each active cell must retain its glutinous semi-liquid con-
dition in order that its function may be properly perfermed.
Decrease the moisture and you increase the consistency of
the protoplasm and with it diminish the vital activity of
the plant.

A plant must be properly charged with moisture in order
to grow freely. Hence, in wet seasons, with an abundance of
fertilizers, the sugar cane grows véry rapidly, and if the
moisture and other conditions favorable to growth be main-
tained till harvest, it comes to the sugar house low in
sugar, since the sugar cells are gorged with a surplus of
moisture. Interrupt the growth by dry weather and give the
cane a period of respose, and its cells lose the excess of
moisture, and the cane gives a juice high in sugar.

Irrigation is sometimes needed in Louisiana for other
purposes than supplying the growing crop with water. Many
a planter has lost his seed cane from dry rot when a slight
irrigation of the soil in which it was windrowed would have
saved it. Seed cane has frequently refused to germinate
when planted in dry, cloddy soils, for its want of proper
moisture, when irrigation would have furnished a superb seed-
bed. In many a field, in spring, may be seen the plow and
cultivator rolling the obdurate clods to and from the young



198,

plants in an honest but fruitless
when & mere saturation of them wit
have caused their disintegration. _

There is scarcely a year that irrigation cannot be em-
ployed profitably on a plantation.

The Sugar Experiment Station established an irrigation
plant in 1891, and since that time has used it Successfully
over twenty times. Crops in all stages  of growth have been
irrigated. Freshly fallowed lands have been flooded to
bring them into a state of pulverization suitable for the
planting of alfafa and clovers.

Cane rows have been opened and irrigation water run
down them, to prepare the soil for the reception of cane.

Both surface and Ssub-irrigation have been tried; the
former on our untiled lands, and the latter on tiled plats,
using the tiles as Pipes to carry the water, after closing
with valves, the main connecting each plat. The tiles are
four feet deep, and Sub-irrigation through them is a great
waste of water, and while large and growing plants with en-
tensive root systems are completely watered, small plants
in the elevated rows and clods on the surface are but little
affected. Hence sub-irrigation is not always as effective
as surface irrigation, nor as general in its application.

‘The results from irrigation of cane have been uni-
formly_successful angd satisfactory, sufficiently so to Jus-
tify the assertion that the profits of irrigation were very
large in tonnage and with no sacrifice of the sugar content
of the cane.

In establishing irrigation ditches, the reverse of

In the latter, the line

is found and
, while in establishing the main irrigation ditch

the backbone, or line of highest elevation, is carefully
determined and bpursued. This ditch transports the water
through the plantation, From this ditch on both sides water
may be drawn into the lateral or quarter-drains, following
still the lines of highest elevation.
From these laterals, water may be drawn into the lowest

parts of the field. Our plan in irrigating was to fill the

i arly full, permitting the water to re-
main all night and drawing it off inearly morning through
the drainage ditches, By accident, however, it was found
that cane would stand a complete inundation for forty-eight
hours, with the water at a temperature of 72 degrees, whs
the maximum temperature recorded in the station's weath
bureau was 90 degrees F. No fears should be entertas
injuring the cane by too much water, for a reasonatr
Say two days, in applying it, provided that when

effort to pulverize them,
h irrigation water would
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jrained off, it is well and guickly done; in other words,
<he land is well drained.

Water can easily be drawn from the adjacent river, or
payou, by nearly every sugar planter in the State. The
erection of a boiler, pump and syphon will be needed to 1lift
it over the levees. Nowhere, possibly, can a systematic ir-
rigation plant be established and maintained at a less cost
than in Louisiana, and our very variable seasons demand it
as an adjunct to every plantation that aims to make maximum

crops every year.

A DESCRIPTION OF SUGARCANE CULTIVATION IN LOUISIANA
IN THE EARLY TWENTIETH CENTURY

from F. S. Earle, Southern Agriculture (New York: The Mac-
millan Company, 1908), pp. 122-26.

The methods of cultivation on the best Louisiana plan-
tations may be briefly summarized as follows. It must be
remembered that here the two chief aims are to get rid of
surplus water and to secure the early maturity of the crop.
A three-year rotation is usually practiced, two years in
cane and one year in corn and cowpeas. After the second
crop of cane is harvested the land is plowed and is planted
to corn very early in the spring. At the last cultivation
of the corn, cowpeas are broadcasted at the rate of one to
three bushels per acre. After the corn is gathered these
produce an immense mass of vegetation which together with
the corn stalks are plowed under with a disk plow during
the latter part of summer. In about four weeks the vines
will have rotted enough so that the land can be bedded.
This is done with a large two-horse turning plow, and the
beds or ridges are thrown up about six to seven feet apart.
These beds are crossed by quarter drains at sufficiently
frequent intervals, which lead into the larger ditches and
these in turn into large drainage canals, so that any ex-
cessive rainfall is quickly carried away. Planting begins
about the first of October or as soon as the seed cane is
sufficiently mature to insure good germination. Planting
furrows are opened in the -top of the ridges with a double
moldboard plow, but this furrow should not be quite as deep
as the water furrow between the rows. Two rows of seed cane
are laid in the bottom of this furrow, which is then filled
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. in five or six inches deep by means of the disk cultivator.

It is covered thus deeply to protect the seed cane from
freezing during the winter. The cane is planted full length
as it is found to keep better than when cut in short pieces.
About four tons of seed cane are required per acre. Plant-
ing is usually interrupted at the beginning of the grinding
season in November. On most plantations it is necessary to
make spring plantings alsoc. For this purpose seed cane must
be carried over winter by the process known as windrowing.

armful are completely covered by the tops of the next. When
the windrow is completed, only a continuous row of tops and
leaves is visible. Furrows are now thrown from either side
with large plows and the work of completely covering with
dirt is finished with hoes.

In severe winters the windrowed cane is sometimes da-
maged so that a larger quantity of seed will be required to
seécure a stand. With the first warm days of spring the dirt

greater part of the earth which covers the cane is sScraped
off with hoes. This lets in the warmth of the sun and pro-
motes early germination. Fertilizer is now scattered in

subsequent cultivation is all done with disk cultivators,
which throw still more dirt to the rows, and with the Mag-
nolia or some other similar form of cultivator for .the water
furrows. No hoeing is needed after the first scraping of
the dirt from the seed canes. In fact even this is some-
times done with a Special implement devised for the pur-
pose. When the cane tops begin to meet between the rows,

it is “laid by," by again cleaning the water furrows with
the double moldboard angd opening up the gquarter drains,
Which should be six inches deeper than the bottom of the
water furrows. After the harvest the land is left covered
with a great accumulation of trash, consisting of the cane
tops and leaves. This is burned over at the first suitable
Cpportunity in order to kill the cane borer, but more parti-

during the winter, This is recognized as a great waste of
fertility since so much vegetable matter is destroyed that
Ought to be reincorporated with the soil. Under these
Special conditions, however, its advantages are found to
Considerably Outweigh its very obvious disadvantages. It
ust be remembered that in this short rotation an abundant
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supply of vegetable matter is returned to the soil every
three yvears with the corn stalks and pea vines. The burn-
ing, too, clears the ground for the subsequent cultivation
of the stubble cane. In the early spring an implement
known as a stubble digger is passed over the rows to loosen
up the ground between the stubbles. If the upper buds of
the stubble have been injured by the winter, another imple-
ment, known as the stubble shaver, may first be passed over
the row to cut off these injured tops below the surface of
the ground. As soon as the stubbles begin to sprout the
rows are barred off, fertilized, rebedded, and cultivated
exactly like the plant cane.

The fertilizers used in Louisiana for cane are largely

the phosphates though nitrogenous manures are also employed.

Potash does not seem to be needed. This is probably to be
explained by the well-known fact that the phosphates tend
to hasten maturity, a point so important for Louisiana,
while potash has the contrary effect of prolonging the
period of vigorous growth.

Most unfortunately for the sugar-cane industry the
harvesting as yet has to be done by hand. This requires a
much larger force of laborers than the cultivation, and at
the present time constitutes the most difficult problem
that confronts the cane grower. A successful mechanical
harvester is a great desideratum. The great weight of the
crop to be handled and the fact that it is usually badly
tangled by storms are serious obstacles to be overcome, but
the worst difficulty is that judgment has to be used as to
the height at which to top the cane in order not to waste
it on the one hand by cutting too low or by cutting too
bigh to include immature tops which carry impurities that
prevent the crystallization of the sugar. Whether these
difficulties can ever be successfully solved remains for
the future to decide. A successful machine for cutting cane
already exists and it is sometimes employed in windrowing,
but ordinarily it is not found to have much advantage over
hand cutting. There are now several fairly successful de-
vices for loading cane into carts or wagons, after it is
thrown in piles by the cutters and others for transferring
it from carts to railroad cars and from the cars to the con-
Véyor at the mill. It is thus seen that cutting and strip-
ping are practically the only hand work remaining in the
Louisiana cane fields.
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-veCRIPTION OF RICE CULTIVATION IN ALLUVIAL PORTIONS OF
' LOUISIANA IN 1900

..om Wwilliam C. Stubbs, Rice, Preparation, Cultivation,
Qfoodinq, Harvesting, and Noxious Weeds in the Rice

.elds, Bulletin of the Agricultural Experiment Station cf
The Louisiana State University and A. & M. College, Second
series, No. 61 (Baton Rouge: Board of Agriculture ang
immigration, 1900), pp. 385-86.

CULTIVATION OF RICE

varies in different sections of the State and sometimes in
different communities in the same section. The alluvial
sectlons as a rule pursue an entirely different method

from preparation of soil to the harvesting of the crop, to
that followed by planter upon prairies. -

IN TEE ALLUVIAL SECTIONS

The ditches for drainage run from the levees to the
rear at distances of from 100 to 200 feet apart. Aas
before mentioned, the land slopes gradually from the
ievees to the swamps. This slope, nowhere precipitous,
yet varies in different fields. Cross embankments at
intervals to suit this slope, are thrown up with a plow
and perfected with the hoe so as to held back water enough
to cover the plants in the upper part of the plat. These
embankments cross the old ditches with either plank or
earth dams. The size of the plats thus made by the
ditches and cross embankments varies with slope of the
land and distance between ditches. Usually they are too
small to permit of the successful handling of improved
machinery in harvesting the crop.

Two methods of preparing the soil are followed, known
as the "dry" and the "wet". 1In the former the lands are
plowed in the fall and winter and thoroughly harrowed and
seed sown broadcast {(or with drill) and harrowed in,
similar to planting of ocats or wheat. The seed is usually
sown in the last days of March or early in April.

In wet culture the fields are flooded and plowed in
water. The rice is sown and harrowed in the wet. The
water is then withdrawn to permit the rice to germinate.
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sowing made directly after plowing is usually done

;n April or in May. Care must be exercised to

ent the young plants from scalding by the sun at this
.- period. This custom is practiced by those planters
‘:ovcjltlvate black or buckshot clays, because after
”.tlng the so0il an ordinary pair of mules can break the
-and, whereas if dry it will require a four or six mule
uam for the same work. However, wet culture has many

sifficulties unless carefully and judiciously performed.

After the plants are up the ground is gradually
~oistened and the water kept just a little below the tops
of the plant until the latter has obtained a good size,
when the field is flooded from six to twelve inches deep
and kept so until ready for harvest, unless some other
disaster overtakes the crop. Should weeds and grass
abound they are either  pulled out by hand or they are
scythed down with the rice, and by flooding, the former
are checked or killed and the latter pushed into vigor.
During growth a constant but imperceptible flow of water
is kept going through the fields. When harvest approaches
the.water is withdrawn and pumps stopped. The water is
now, by law, drawn over levees through syphons, which
during high water work automatically, dispensing with
expense of a pump. -

Harvest usually takes place on the river in August.
The rice is cut by hand with sickles, laid upon the
stubble to cure and afterwards bound into sheaves and put
into shocks, where they remain until hauled to the
thresher. Improved implements for planting and harvesting
the crop have been tried in the alluvial sections, but
have not been generally adopted, due to reasons already
assigned. The plowing is usually from four to six inches
deep, and a sack of 162 pounds of seed is planted on from
two and a half to three and a half acres.
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BRICKS,  BRICKS,
HARVEY'S

CANAL BRICK

Manufaotory.
(Established by J. H, HARVEY in 1848,)

Bricks delivered in quanities to auit by New Orleans Pacific

or Morgan’s Louisiana and Texas R. R.; also in barges to plan-

tations. Address only Mrs, Louise Harvy, 55 Prytania
8St., or box 30, Mechanicew’, Dealors’ & Lumbermm’x’s Exchange.
These bncl:'u are manufactured from the clay excavated from
g‘;: Ht;n'ey Lmluil[,_ and are much Rtronger than those male
m the annual Mississippi deposit, as they wil] not disinteg-
rate from damp or saline atmouphe’re. y ‘

Advertisement, L. Bouchereau, Statement of the Sugar and
Rice Crops Made in Louisiana. (New Orleans: Young, Bright

& Co., 1881-2), p. xiv.

Iron spike and piece of "H* imprinted brick from possible site of
the Christmss Plantation windlass cane derrick (4, map of Cultural

-—

feaTures of the Christmas Plantation).
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The above represents a Double Cabin of two rooms, each 14 by 15 !
feet, 10 feet high, built with boards placed upright and the joints stripped,
the doors and shutters are hung and fitted with locks, etc., and the win- 1 -

. dows fitted with glazed sash. This Cabin contains about 3000 feet of
' lumber and 8500 shingles. Delivered to Boat, including all Hardware,
Nails, Shingles, etc., (except foundations and chimney.)

The following are the most common sizes, but we will getoutany |
size required :

DOTEBILE CAEIINS.

2 Rooms, each 14 feet by 14 feet. 2 Rooms, each 15 feet by 16 feet.
2 Rooms, each 14 feet by 15 feet. | 2 Rooms, each 16 fest by 16 feet.
2 Rooms, each 15 feet by 15 feet. | 2 Rooms, each 16 feet by 18 feet.

SINGLE C.ASIITS.

1 Room, - - 14 feet by 14 feet. 1 Room, - . 15 feet by 16 feet.
1 Room, - - 1dfeetby15fect. | 1 Room, - - 16 feet by 16 feet.
1 Room, - - 15 feet by 15 feet. 1 Room, - . 186 feet by 18 feet.
. |

For Price of abov:: Cabins. address, or call
299, 301, 303, 305 & 307 Gravier Street, or at our B

Carondelet Street, New Orleans.

on us atour Factory
ranch Office, No. 52

. William C., Bell, comp., Roberts and Company Tllustrated Catalogue

[ of Mouldinegs, Architectural and Ornamental Woodwork, New Orleans,
1880, p. BE. SCD/TUL.
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00D & EVANS CRATE BAR

Office, No. 2 Canal Street,
NEW ORLEANS, LA.
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Patented May 27th, 1890.

This Bar will burn Slack, Nut and all kinds of coal with a saving of frrom 10 to :
20 per cent. Recommeded to Sugar Planters as well as all Steam
Boats, especially for burning Stack and Nut Coal.

TO STEAM USERS IN GENERAL.

Advertisement, L. Bouchereau, Statement of the Sugar and Rice Crops Made in Louisiana.
(New Orleans: Young, Bright & Co., 1889-9%2), p. S.




Cast-iron grate bar from the furnace of a plantation sugar refinery,

used ag a bou:}dary marker at the lower front corner of the east
bank Pable Sudrez Ruiz tract. 3/86




MENGE'S
patent Jrainage and frrigating Yfachines.

Two kinds made for Jow Lift up to 8 feet wooden frame box, 28 <hown in cut: for high
;0 feet, made of all iron with suction and discharge pipe.
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=
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Advertisement, L. Bouchereau, Statement of the Sugar and

Rice Crops Made in Louisiana. (New Orleans: Young, Bright

& Co., 1885-6), p. xxi.
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Advertisement, L. Bouchereau, Statement of the Sugar and Rice Crops Made in Louisiana
(New Orieans: Young, Bright & Co., 1889;90), p. 37b. '




“LEEDS’ FOUNDRY,
)? (Fixtablished fn 1823,)

cor. Delord and Foucher 8is.,

Wi ARE PREPARED TO MANUFACTURE

Steam Engines, Boilers,

- SUGAR MILLS, SUGAR KETTLES, -
Draining Machines, Saw Mills,
 COTTON PRESSES,

xcwvll §rrcws, @in ﬁcm'ing, jumm:c jﬂouﬂxfﬁ,
P )

Grate BARS, Judson's GOVERNORS,

AND ALL KINDS OF

Plamanun & Steamboat Works,

AND EVERY DESCRIPTION OF

Machinery for the South.
LEEDE: & CO.

* 2 Opders deftat Box 73, Mechunics’ amd Presders’ Fachan: Al

Tevervas prompt atlentioy

®

Advertisement, L. Bouchereau, Statement of the Sugar and
Rice Crops Made in Louisiana. (New Orleans: Young, Bright
& Co., 1870), n.p.




lLocomotive Works
DAVENPORT, IOWA cons e

PLANTATION LOCOMOTIVES Our Specialty
Any Gauge—Any Size—Any Design
We understand the conditions and build to meet them
Special Locomotives for Special Purposes

Southern Agent—LOUIS KAUFMAN, Godchaux Bidg., New Dileans. La.

Advertisement, L. Bouchereau, Statement of the Sugar and Rice Crops Made 1n Louisiana,.
(New Orleans: Young, Bright & Co., 1902-3), p. 286.




Hand-cut railroad tie probably from the Christmas Plantation Rail-
road, used as part of a barbed-wire fence along the west side of
Third Road to contain cattle, and taken dawn hv +ha wMne e ror



Advertisement,

D LAGASN,

JAMES MACKISON

LAGAN & MACKISON,

Nos. 8 & 8 Common Street,

NEW ORLEANS.

e~ MANUFACTURBERS OF ——me

COPPER, SHEET IRON AND BRASS WORK.

~—— ALSO DEALERS IN s

WROUGHT IRON PIPES and BOILER TUBES,
MALLEABLE and CAST IRON FITTINGS,

COPPER and BRASS Seamless TUBING of all Sizes.

Have on hand, and are constantly receiving, » full Assortment of

GLOBE, ANGLE, SAFETY and WASH VALVES,

HOSE COUPLIXGS, STRAPS and MOZZLES,
Pure and Sheet 4UM, Round and Square PACKING,

HOSE AND GASKETS OF ALL SIZES.
—— We Manuofacture the most ——

IMPROVED AND ECONOMICAL STEAM TRAINS

for the evaporation of Cane Jnice, both in Copper nod Iron,

Sheet Iron Tanks, Juice Boxes & Suiphur Furnaces

«— WE ARE AGENTS —
For all the best PATENT SYPHONS in nse for throwing water and

sod cane juice; They are preferable to Steam Pumps,

WHICH COST SIX TIMES THEIR PRICE,
aud do pot perform equal service.

We call attention to our great facilities for

STEAMBOAT AND STEAMSHIP WORK.

and respectfully solicit orders, which will be executed to perfection,
and wiib dispstch,

And we distinctly Guarantee as not to be Excelled.

_ L. Bouchereau,
Rice Crops Made in Louisiana.

2Lz Wogr Dowz 2 OoUR ESTISLISEXENT

Statement of the Sugar and

& Co., 1881-2),

p. Xxiv,

(New Orleans: Young, Bright



I Dudley Coleman Machigery (o,

LINMTITT=0,

NEW ORLEANS, LA.

WE MARE A SPECIALTY OF

Sugar Machinery

—————

WE SOLICIT ORDERS FonR

Anything or =verything
FROM THE CANE CARRDIER TO THE

PACKING OOV

—————

WE REFER TO TIIOSE

WHO HAVE PATRONTZED Ux

Advertisement, L. Bouchereau, Statement of the Sugar and

Rice Crops Made in Louisiana. ~(New Orleans: Young, Bright
& Co., 1893-4), p. A.




M. Stephens, "Map of Property of the Jefferson Land Company,*"

March, 1910, De
Plantation and ¢
des Familles,

tail showing buildings of the Christmas
he plantation roads and bridge over Bayou
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Christmas Plantation Headquarters area. Positions of east bank
buildings are approximate. Dashed lines represent post-plan-
| tation features. Scale: 1 inch = 300 feet.
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STRUCTURES ON THE CHRISTMAS PLANTATION

secords indicate that a series of buildings and structures

erected on the Christmas Plantation during the half-century

et

the plantation was in operation., The identity and location

s

..h-aL
.+ gome of these structures have been documented. Future archi-

val and archaeoclogical work may identify and position other
~]antation structures.

Excepting roads, buildings and improvements are not mentioned
in the acts of sale by which Rufus King Cutler and Pierre Ernest
3eauvais purchased the original property tracts in 1865 and 1866
from Marie Julie Gabrielle Lemoine, widow of Pierre Rochefort.,
A Jefferson Parish Mortgage Office certificate attached tc the
1865 sale states that buildings were present on the 20-by-100-
arpent "portion of ground or plantation® out of which the Christ-
mas property was subdivided and sold by the widow Rochefort.

The buildings were likely to have been located along the frontage
of the Rochefort property which faced ﬁayou Barataria.21

Buildings had apparently been erected on the Christmas Plan-
tation by October, 1864,when Cutler sold his undivided half o?f
the property to Beauvais with all the "singular improvements
thereon, the rights, ways, servitudes and privileges thersto
belonging, of all the machinery, instruments, mules, wagons,
carts, cattle, boats, edged toolas, fowls and all materials and
things and farming apparatus belonging to said land known as

the 'Christmas Plantation.'” Sugar production began on the

plantation with a portable sugar mill housed in a wooden structure.

Records do not specify the location of the mill., It may have



205,

. operated by mule power., Prom the cane crop of 1B69-70,
gl ¥

;T portable mill produced 55 hogsheads of sugar weighing
22

(PR

;2,000 pounds, and 5,800 gallons of molasses,
In 1869-70, the Christmas Plantation Sugarhouse was

ingtalled with steam apparatus and open kettles by the New
crleans firm of Lagan and Mackison at a cost of $3,296.99.

The machinery was made by the W, Golding Iron Foundry and

the Leeds and Company Iron Foundry. In 1872, additional equip-
ment for the sugarhouse was purchased from the iron foundry of
Shakespeare, Smith and Company.23 -

The sugar-making equipment was mounted in a brick structure

having a wood-burning furnace and a tall brick chimney. ™The
sugarhouse +that enclosed this assemblage was made of wood.

The precige prosition of the sugarhouse is not documeqted, how~
ever, records show that it was located on the east gide of

Bayou des Pamilles., It was pProbably located in the vicinity
of the present-day Shell Road, also known as the 0ld Road and
the Christmas Road, where the plantation buildings are shown
on later maps.‘21+

A bankruptey sale of 1876 described the improvements on

the plantation as consisting of “one dwelling house, one sugar-
house and eight other buildings for quarters, stables, cane

shed, one water cistern, etc. The sugarhouse and cane shed

contain one steam engine, one sugar mill of six hogsheads a day
. capacity, two sets of steam boilers, ten steam clarifiers, four
gettling tubs, one iron evapcrator, three syrup settling tubs,

cne copper sirike pan, two centrifugals, one molasses cistern,
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Bill to P. E. Beauvails from Lagan and Mackison for labor and
materials furnished in making repairs and fitting up machinery
in the sugarhouse on the Beauvais Place, January 1, 1870.

Lagan and Mackinson vs. P. E. Beauvais, Second Judicial District
Cour*, Docket No. 398L, April 19, 1872, Jefferson Parish 0l1d
Judicial Records, Gretna.
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strike box car, fifteen coolers, draining floor for seventy
re

_-gneadB. all said apparatus being in complete running order
and condition; also a circular saw attachment, a complete set

.z plows, harrows, cross cut saws, and all necessary agricul-

.yral implements, five carts with harnesses, five mules, 2
stack of hay, and a lot of sweet potatoes estimated a two
nundred and fifty barrels.“25.

The sugarhouse burned in 1885, The plantation was appar-
ently then used to grow rice, and a rice thresher may have
been installed on the property.26 _

In 1892, another sugarhouse may have been built on the
Christmas Plantation. In that year, brick laying for a boiler
and the installation of the boiler were done by Victor Lombard,
a brick mason who lived in McDonoghville. However, rice contin-
ued to be grown on the plantation, and the boiler may have been
uged to pump water to flood the fields. By the turn-of-the-
century, sugar cane was again being grown, but the cane was
being transpofted by railroad to a neighboring plantation to be
milled. 27 |

The "New Orleans, La."” U, S. G. S. quadrangle map (scale
1:62,500, surveyed in 1890, edition of November 1891, reprinted
in October 1898) shows -the buildings of the Christmas Plantation
clustered near the present-day Shell Road, on both sides of
Bayou des Familles. Typically, U. S. G. S. quadrangle maps do
not show all existing buildings and a larger number of structures

’# were probably actually present in the complex. Five buildings

that were undoubtedly the laborers' guarters line the south side
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Payment by C. J. Brown c/o P. E. Beauvais to Victor Lombard,
Brick Mason, for putting up boiler on the Christmas Plantation,
April 22, 1892, Charles J. Brown Vvs. Pierre E, Beauvais,
21st Judicial District Court, Docket No, 251, January 14, 1895,
Jefferson Parish 01d Judicial Records, Gretna.
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~oad. Two larger buildings are located at the southwest

LY I

. of the juncture of the road and the bayou. Apparently,

;

Y a1

. of these puildinge was the main dwelling house, Earlier,

..:g would have been the likely location for the sugarhouse.

other building is positioned on the opposite side of the bayou.

~nig puilding was apparently a stable, These bulldings are
ssgcribed as being in these locations in an agreement by Charles

J, Brown 1o deliver his property to the Southside Plantation

company to plant cane in 1901;

The general direction of the Cane Pield is North-
west to Southeast; the Barataria or Public Road running
slong the Northeasterly side of the field; about midway
in the field and running in the same direction is the
Bayou des Familles; the greater part of the Quarters is
centrally located on the North side of the Bayou as is
also the Plantation Residence: on the South side oI the
Bayou are the stable and a few cabins; the railroad
track leading from the South Side Plantation to the
christmas Plantation enters the cane field of the latiler
property near the Northwesterly corner and extends in
the Christmas Plantation about one thousand feet Ifrom
where the track crosses the Public Road, 28

Also on the property were twenty-two mules and several

carts, as well as

.« s » two Avery cultivators; two Avery stubble diggerss
four Planet Jr. cultivators; three pea-vine cutters; one
portable boiler and engine, Harrisburg Make; one thirty=-
six-inch Menge pump; ten assorted Avery plows; one cane
derrick; one horse.power hoist; all harnesses and parts
of harnesses; all other property necessary for the
proper cultivation of the crops including buildings,
fences, etc.29

mhe Menge pump may have been situated in the vicinity of

brick masonry work that straddles the main outfall ditch about

2350 feet upstream from the Shell Road. The brick remains are
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.25 feet from the front ditch that borders the bayou
~ne larger portion of the foundation appears from sur-
. opservation to be located on the south side of the ditch.
the brick remains appear to cover an area measuring

- 3110
.+ 45 feet by 18 feet, (See No. 6 on map of Cultural Features

AR
_+ -ne Christmas Plantation.)

1t is possible that the brickwork once supported a wooden
.aterwheel that helped to drain the fields, However, records
chow that & pump was in use in the 1890s to flood the rice
rields, and this was probably the Menge pump described above. 3°

"Menge's Patent Drainage and Irrigating Machines" were )
advertised in the 1880s and 1890s as being several kinds having
~a Cap#city of from Fifty Thousand to Ten Million Gallons an
hour.” The working parts were made of iron and the frame and
walls were of wood. The pumps had the appearance of rectangular
boxes and were installed in the water. A vertical shaft turned
8 horizontal wheel which was located in the bottom of the box
below the water line., Water thrown up into the box by the wheel
was discharged through a flume. The vertical shaft was connected
by a pulley to a steam engine situated on land nearby. Freguently,
a portable steam engine on wheels was used to power the pump.

For protection against weather, the engines were sometimes
enclosed in a small wooden building with a metal smokestack.
The masonry on the main outfall ditch may have served as the

foundation and floor of a building to contain the Harrisburg

portable boiler and engine that is described above. However,
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pclogical investigation is necessary to attempt to
.onaecs

11y getermine the purpose of the brickwork on the ditch.

3

,;’.'JE!
..-gaional

. ~tner ditches may have served as supports for wooden bridge

bricks or brick fragments lying in or on the edges

_-pssings of plantation field roads. These sites should also
e investigated archaeologically.31

when the Christmas Plantation was sold by Charles J.
arown to George H, T, Shaw in 1903, it was sold with the
nuildings and “eighteen head of mules, thirteen plows, two
cultivators, two stubble diggers, five mule carts, one 3 ft,
Menge Pump, one 12 Horse Power Engine, one Dump Cart and one
Windlass Derrick.” The windlass derrick had been used to
load cane into the rajlroad cars for transportation to the
mill of neighboring Estelle Plantation. The derrick was located
near what is called the "0ld Derrick Road,” which is presumed
to be the old railrcad bed. The probable location of the cane
derrick is a raised area about 150 feet square which is scattered
with Rangia shell and brick fragmenta. An iron spike was also
found on this site, The site is located at the termination of
a 15~foot-wide shell road bed which is raised nearly a foot in
height and runs for 950 feet southwest of the NPS trail juncture
sign on the Big Woods Trail (the 0l1d Baratarias Public Road).
The shell road bed could have also been a railroad bed., (See

No. 4 on map of Cultural Peatures of the Christmas Plantation.)

The presumed site of the windlass cane derrick, the shell road

bed, and the "0l1d Derrick Road" should be investigated archaeo-

logically to attempt to verify their uses.32
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According to Frank Ehret, Jr. and Louisg Ehret, large

Pleces of rusted sheet metal were lying about near thig site

prior to World War II when they were collected for the metal

drives. One briegk fragment on this site wag noted to be

imprinted with the letter ", » Whole bricks bearing the letter

"H* are found in the plantation headquarters area, Thesge

were probably produced by the Harvey's Canal Briek
Manufactory

in 1848

bricks

which had been established by Joseph Hale Harvey

Harvey., An advertigement for the bricks announced that they

were delivered in barges to rlantationg,

) |
These bricks are manufactured from the clay

Harvey Canal, and are myeh
stronger than those made from the annual Missisgippi
deposit, es they will not dieintegrate from damp.
or saline atmosphere

The ad further stated

Both bricke imprinted with an "H* and plain bricks locatec

on probadle Christmas Plantation building sites are hard in con-

®lstency and deep red in color. The same "H* imprinted bricks

2 be found in the Berthoud Cemetery on Bayou Baratariam, an

eXemple of the sale of Harvey bricks to a Barataria plantation

in 2 tontract in the Jefferson Parish Courthouse by which

Louige Destrehan Harvey sold Jonathan Davig 300,000 bricks for

e sugarhouse on his Barataria plantation in 1862, 1he bricks

.“ Iinal source of documentation on the buildings _“and
TUCtureg op 4pe '

it Christmag Plantation is the map made by
*Pheny in 1910 0

K.
T the subdivision of the property east of

and which was later Operated by his wife Louige Destrehan



Qayou des Familles into sireets anc lots for the Jefferson
Land Company,

Based on the above documentation, the probable building

sites located during fielq survey of the headquarterg areg of

the Chrigtmag Plantation are described below, The site numbers

with the maps drafted for this study
the cultural features of the Christmag Plantatio

correspond which show

Ne Archaeo-
logical investigation is needed to attempt to actual

la. Barn site. The site ig located between 400 and 500 feet

NW of the junction of the Shell Road ang Highway 45,

he highway,
Position on the 1910 subdivig
Wout 100 feet long by about

and about

150 feet NE of t The barn is shown located in thig

ion map and is shown as being

40 feet wide,

artifacts are brick and board fragments,

wire fencing, Rangia shell, an old axle,
al items.
%P holgg 8 horseghoe

1t v, growing,

wire and megh

the Other rusted met A fallen tree which hasg split

which became embedded in the tree when

A notable feature of thne site ig g hole in
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‘ Another scattering of brick ang board fragments is

" located about 335 feet Nw of the Shell Road, near two large
live oak trees, A shell road that runs through this area
appears on 1945 gerial photographs angd may date back to the
plantation period, Aerial photographs from 1945 through the
1970s show other buildings located near the barn sgite, Some
artifact scatter ang some of the ground features in this area
may have been associated with thege buildings. Later build-
ings on the site could have reused materials from buildings
of the plantation reriod,

The 1910 subdivigion map shows that the "Plantation Roagd*
on the west bank of Bayou des Familleg ran on the west gide
r'.*:e barn. #n this approximate position, near the highway,
is a raised linear feature about 20 feet wide with ditches on

both'sides. This could be the old Plantation Road bed,

1b, Houge site. The site is located about 75 feet NW of the

“Junction of the Shelz Road and Highway 45, and about &0 feet
NE of the highway. A house is shown on the 1910 subdivigion
lap as being located in this position, facing the bayou with

8 separate kitchen building in the rear. Together, the two
b“ildings are shown on the map as covering an area measuring
2bout 75 by 50 feet. The house is shown as square in plan,

Wd it wag probably a Creole cottage type. The kitchen is
fhwﬂ as rectangular in plan. The map shows that the buildings
-?"artiully enclosed by a fence, Near the bayou, a wire

%:'h Tence is locateq in the position of one fence line shown

7 thQ map o




,

. Surface artifacts On the gite include brick and boarg

fragments, ang Rangia shell, mogt of which are located a+ the

base of a large live oak tree that once shaded the houge, 4n

aerial Photograph of 194¢
of the gak tree,

n the west bank of the bayou, Probably a+ that
Construction of the road seems

Archaeologipcal

ace evidence of the Structure,

e smayy building gite, The 1910 Subdivision map shows a
%

mal) urudentified building

sided by a Tence located 220 feet
4

=

l

°f the Present-

‘ day Sheil Road ang about 100 feet NE of the
\Lghway .

. The gite containg Scattered debris, muech of which can be
« td ag Tecent,
?‘ WNtil rece

o

An old wooden shegd stood on or qeér the

ntly demolisheq by the Nps, This shegd may not
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have been the small building shown on the 1910 map. Part of
a wire mesh fence is located in the position of the fence line
shown on the map, The fence_runs into the slough beside the

highway.

le. House site. The 1910 subdivision map shows a square

house with rectangular kitchen at the rear located about 350
feet SE of the present-day Shell Road. Measuring along present-
day Highway 45, the site is about 420 feet SE of the junction
of the Shell Road and the highway. The rear of the kitchen
was located about 75 feet NE of the highway, near a slough
that runs beside the highway. The house faced the bayou,

The site has been disturbed by earth moving. Lﬁrge
pieces of bdbrick masonry protrude at angles from the ground.

The roots of trees grow over some of the masonry. Also present
on the site are Rangia shell, broken fragments of rotten boards,
broken bricks, and pieces of metal and wire, On the 1910 map,
the twe buildings cover an area measuring about 40 by 60 feex.
However, the remains of the buildings appear to cover a larger
area,

The 1901 description of the Christmas Plantation, gquoted
above, appears to locate the main dwelling house on the east
side of Bayou des Familles. The houses on the west side of the
bayou may have then been used to house sharecroppers or family
Members, and they may have been originally built for these
. oses. However, it may be speculated that the th houses on
the west bank of the bayou were-the original plantation homes

buily by the partners Rufus King Cutler and Pierre Ernest



-3E°°&use they were set apart from the fields, industry,

215.
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Beauvais in 1866. Archaeologiecal inves*igation may help to

date the buildings that stood on the sites,

The layout of pre-Civil War plantatien building complexes
usually followed a pattern that was developed as & result of
the institution of slavery. Regimented rows of slave guarters
were closely grouped for security, within view but distant from
the master house, and distant from the vegetable garden, chicken
house, dovecotes, and storehouses, The slaves were housed
near the fields and the sugarhouse so that they might quickly
go to and from their work., The overseer's house wag frequently.
located near the slave quarters so that he might closely watch

‘ slaves, —Slaves and barn animals were usually situated to
the north of the master house to avoid unpleasant smells that
might be carried on warm southern winds. The master house was
set apart from the other buildings in an ornamental gérden
facing the river or bayou and the main road, 5/

After the Civil War, the status of the rlantation owner
and his relationships to his hired hands, whether white or
black. changed, As a consequence, some changes were made in
the arrangement of buildings on plantztions. Archaeological
investigation of the layout of buildinés on the Christmas
Plantation might add to the knowledge of both social and
technological changes that occurred on post-Civil War planta-

ns,

It msy be conjectured that the houses on the wept bank of

B8you des Familles were built as homes for the plantation owners

and
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laborers’ quarters on the east bank. By the turn-of-the~-century,
however, the houses shared the elevated west bank natural levee
with barns, and the main dwelling house appears to have shared

the east bank of the bayou with the hired hands' quarters.

2. Possibdle sugarhouse site and/or possible main dwelling house
site. This site encompasses an area measuring about 600 feet

square at the SE junction of the Shell Road and Bayou des
Familles. As previously mentioned, the documentation suggests
that the sugarhouse and cane shed may have beeﬁ located in
this area, at least from 1869 to 1885 when the sugarhouse burned,
Another sugarhouse may have been built, but the documentation is
‘oncl.usive& The U. S. G. S, "New Orleans, lLa.” quadrangle
map, which was made from an 1890 survey, shows two large build-
ings located here., The 1901 description of the plantation,
quoted above, seems to indicate that the main dwelling house was,
at that time, located on the east side of the bayou. Archaeo-
logical investigation may show if the site served one or both of
vthese purvoses. Maps drafted for this study show the approximate
location of buildings that were apparently located on the site.
The ground in this area is artifically raised, shows signs
of disturbance by earth-moving, and is littered with debris.
Much trash, including building materials, was removed from this
area by the NPS during clean-up operations. All of the rubbish
oRserved being removed during field work for this study appeared
ﬁe of recent date, However, park personnel belie.ve that some

earlier remains of buildings, furnishings, and farming equipment
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were also removed. Because the area near the Shell Road crossing

of Bayou des Familles was used as & dump in recent years, it is
aifficult to attribute the origin of surface qaterials to build~
ings that once existed on the site,

Nevertheless, much debris also lies under the ground.

Holes dug one or two feet deep by wild animals show that the
gubsurface contains brick fragments, Rangia shell, wire, iron
hinges, pieces of sheet metal, and other metal objects. Such
materials are also scattered on the surface, A number of whole
bricks are strewn about., The bricks are hard in consistancy, ]

ep red in color, and many are imprinted with the letter "H.”
ize of these bricks have been collected and stacked in a pile,
Some brick rubble is located in the field ditches to the south
of the site. None of the bricks observed appeared to date from
the Colonial Period.

Aerial pho%ographs of 1945 ghow that this entire area was
planted as pecan orchard. Aer;al photographs of the 1960s and
1970g ghow two small buildings facing the Shell Road on the
south side of the road and near Bayou des Pamilles. A third
building was located 200 or 300 feet farther to the south,
behind the buildings facing the road., Aerial photographs appear
to show that this last building was démolished in the early
19705, Much of the debris in this area probably derived from

e demolition of these structures. It is possible that recent

Structures reused bricks and other materials remaining from

°°§Btructions of the plantation period.
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3. Laborers' guarters site. The U. S. G. S. "New Orleans, la."

quadrangle map, surveyed in 1890, shows five small buildings
facing the south side of the Shell Road which wasg the Christmas
Plantation headquarters road. These small buildings were
undoubtedly the laborers' cabins, and there may have been more
than five buildings in the row. The 1901 description of the
plantation, quoted above, appears to place the laborers' quart-
ers on the east side of Bayou des Familles. The approximate
location of the row of cabins is shown on maps drafted for
this study. -

The cabins probably resembled the type of quarters building
most often found on late nineteenth century Louisiana planta-
tions, Typically, these were rectangular cabins with gabled
ends and a central brick chimney that served a double fireplace.
This type of cabin usually contained two rooms and was raised
on low brick piers. The front facade usually contained two
doors and two windows fitted with glazed sash windows and
board-and-batten shutters. These may have been the only open-
ings in the building. The wood-frame structure was sided with
vertial or horizontal weather boards and was roofed with wooden
8hingles or sheet metal.38

By the last guarter of the nineteenth century, prefabri-
°‘t0d.cabins of this design could be mail ordered from lumber

[ . . . < s
°n9mﬁ£s in New Orleans, The simple building form originated

“ll
R slave quarter type and examples survive in the country,

ln
t°'“5 and villages, and on the streets of New Orleans®' older



Small Creole cottage types were also popular for laborers’
quarters, as they had been for slave quarters before the Civil
War, It is assumed, however, that the simplier quarters type
described above was the type that housed hired hands on the
Chistmas Plantation because such cabins remained on the prop-
erty until the mid-twentieth century. According to Louis
Ehret, who frequented the area between 1912 and 1930, a row
of these cabine was located on the west bank of Bayou des
Familles, northwest of the crossing to the Shell Road and
about 100 feet from the bayou. The buildings faced the bayou
and were occupied by moss pickers. Aerial photographs of 1945
apaear tﬁ shOﬁ'that one of these cabins was stiil standing at
‘tg time. 3Broken bricks and other surface artifacts in this
area may remain from the demolition of these cabins. The
bulldings may have been the the laborers' quarters that originally

8tood along the plantation headquarters road, and they may have

been moved to the west bank of the bayou after 1910 in order to
Clear the east bank for the laying out of the subdivision and
thﬁplanting of the pecan orchard., An archaeological investi-
Ration shouid be conducted of the cabin row sites on both sides
of the bayou, 40
The original site of the laborers®' quarters on the south

3?" °f the plantation headquarters road (the Shell Road) con-
,fi."' °f a linear rise in the ground, about 20 feet wide, One or

‘°3t high, ang about 700 feet long, It is located on the
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south side of the drainage ditch that borders the south side
of the Shell Road, The linear character of the site has the
appearance of an old road bed. It is larger than any surround-
ing agricultural features and is not duplicated beside the
drainage ditch on the north side of the Shell Road. However,
it served as a bed for one of the pecan orchard rows. The
larger size of the bed may be due to the debris from the
laborers' quarters that it apparently contains.

A metal detector was used along much of the length of the
site in order to better determine the nature of the raised -
linear feature. Metal artifacts found barely under the sur-

face of the s0il included a typical nineteenth century wrought-

’ron strap Ninge measuring about 12 inches long and 13 inches

wide, and part of a cast-iron stove front. Also scattered
along the linear rise are broken bricks having the séme color
and consistency as those found on other sites associated with
the Christmas Plantation, broken glass, and thin, white ceramic
sherds. One of these sherds appears to be the lip of a cup
and bears a scalloped pattern. Scattered bricks are also loca-
ted about 100 feet southeast of the linear rise and about 1000
feet southwest of the eastern Christmas Plantation property line.
The linear rise is also.scattered'with occasional clam and
Oyster shells; large, round, bent nails; wire; and soft drink
Cans, Being adjacent to the road, trash has undoubtedly been
hrown on the site for many years. Archaeological investigation
§ necessary to attempt to determine the extent of the site and

the actual positions of the laborers' quarters. ' The row of
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cabins may have extended along the plantation road to the

intersection of the Barataria Public Road on the eastern

property line of the Christmas Plantation. This area has been

disturbed by oil exploration and, if the linéar rise extended

to the Public Road, it has been obliterated. However, the

base of an old wine bottle and a crockery sherd were noted

to have been exhumed at the mouth of an armadillo hole in this

area, Future archaeblogical investigation should also bear

in mind that the Spanish Period house site of Louis Pelteau

may have been located in this area. -
Other features surviving the the Christmas Plantation

.adquérter-s area are field ditches, some furrows and beds of

the sugar cane fields, field roads, levees, and the bridge

crossing approaches of the headquarters road at the bayou.

As shown by the 1910 subdivision map, the bridge crossing was

located about 100 feet downstream from the present bridge on

the Shell Road. Although the road beds of the bridge approaches

have subsided, they are still visible as raised linear features

15 or 20 feet wide., A dead oak tree stands at the edge of the

bayou on the east bank bridge approach. Aerial photographs of

1945 show that the road leading from the east bank bridge cross-

ing slanted toward the Shell Road. It apparently joinegd the

route of the Shell Road a few hundred feet from the bayou, 1
The west bank bridge approach road that is shown on the f

’10 map also appears in the 1945 aerial photographs, The ‘

raised road bed is visible today in several places on the ground

as it curves toward Highway 45, Near the present highway, the



road joined the plantation road that ran along the west bank
natural levee. In the slough that borders the east side of
the highway, the position of the bridge approach road is
marked by a cluster of willows and red maples, 100 feet south-
east of the Shell Road.

In June, 1867, Pierre Ernest Beauvais received permission
from the Jefferson Parish Police Jury to build a float bridge
on Bayou des Familles., The bridge crossing at the plantation
headquarters area, shown on the 1910 map, may have been the
one built by Beauvais in 1867, Such float bridges were con-
structed of cypress logs laid on the water across the bayou
and nailed together by planks laid cross wise. The bridge

ssing site and road beds should be verified by archaeological

J’J'-u.'estiga‘tions.L"l
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CHAPTER VII

PLANTATION BACKLANDS
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The triangular part of the study area that lies east of
.. formeT Christmas Plantation consists largely of the

. oress Swamp backslope of the natural levee of the old

civer distributary. The natural levee and the Barataria
Road pass through the upper and lower cornmers of the
rriangle. Undoubtedly, this area has always been largely
corested; many large 1ive oak trees appear to be hundreds of
years old.

At the auction sales of the estate of John McDonogh in -
1859-60, the several 1and tracts that this part of the study
area partially contains were purchased by owners of large
sugar plantations lying jmmediately upstream on Bayou des
Familles. The lands then became the backlands or lower
parts of these plantations. Because there was little arable
l1and in these tracts, and because they were remote from the
sugar house and headquarters area, the tracts were reserved
for logging and 1ivestock grazing. They received little or
no cultivation. The tracts remained part of the large
plantation properties until the twentieth century, and they
continued to be used for logging and grazing until recent
years.

The planters who purchased the tracts were Jacob U.

Payne and Laurent Millaudon. Of the township sections shown

|
on modern quadrangle maps that are bounded or partially t

bounded by the study area, Section 3, 37, 51 and 57 were

R
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ired by Payne, and Section 38 was purchased by

- gudon.

L

jacob U. Payne was a native of Kentucky and a member of
.ne New Orleans cotton factor firm of Payne and Harrison.
e also owned a large cotton plantation on the Red River in
qorthern Louisiana. He lived in the New Orleans suburb
wnown today as the Garden District. It was in the Greek

Revival Style house that he built at 1134 First Street that

jefferson Davis, President of the Confederacy, died in

1889.2

In 1857, Payne had purchased the sugar plantation of
Jesse Ross on Bayou des Familles, from Ross' widow. It
stretched for 45 arpents along the west side of the bayou
and adjoined the lands Payne purchased from the McDonogh
estate. Included in the sale were 30 mules, 2 horses, 36
draught oxen, about 40 head of cattle, and 72 slavés. All
together, the Payne Plantation formed an irregularly shaped
but connected land holding that stretched for about four
miles.3

Jacob Payne did not long have the plantation in
significant production. The Bell Crevasse of 1859 entirely
destroyed his crop for that season. In the following year,
his crop produced oﬁly 38 hogsheads. In the seasons of
1860-61 and 1861-62 he produced 245 and 304 hogsheads of
sugar. The Civil War then intervened.4

After the war, in 1866, Payne sold his plantation to

William Stackhouse, who sold it to John H. Carter in the
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following year. On the same day that Carter purchased the
‘ Stackhouse property, on March 7, 1867, he signed another act
of sale for the purchase of an adjoining piece of land that
lay on the bend of Bayou des Familles above the Christmas
Plantation from Marie Julie Gabrielle Lemoine, widow of
Pierre Rochefort of New Orleans.5
Carter attempted to revive the plantation without the
use of slave labor. Between 1869 and 1873, his production
ranged between 38 and 190 hogsheads. He also grew corn.
Carter was unable to Pay his promissory notes to Stackhouse,
who petitioned for a writ of sheriff's seizure and sale in
1872. The Property was purchased at sheriff's sale in 1873
by the Citizens' Bank of Louisiana. Carter sold the

’ adjoining tract he had bought from the widow Rochefort to
John A. Peel in 1875.°

The plantation remained unoccupied for 12 years.

During that time it was advertised in Lands and Plantations

Belonging to the Citizens' Bank of Louisiana Offered For

Sale or Rent on Favorable Terms, 1881 and 1882 editions,

with the following description:

A fine Sugar Plantation, situated in the
parish of Jefferson, twelve miles from the city of
New Orleans, on the west side of the Mississippi
River, on Barataria ridge, containing about 3000
arpents of land, 800 under new fence, balance fine
cypress timber and wood, one dwelling and outhouse
complete, with orange and fig trees surrounding
the house; fifteen double frame cabins, one large
corn house and stable, one hay house, one over-
seer's house, one medium-sized sugar house, with
walking beam engine in order, one set open

‘ kettles, with cooler, tankage, etc., in good
order; one new flue boiler, with tools and
implements complete. This is a first class stock
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farm, being so near the city fo§ marketing, etc.
Formerly owned by J. H. Carter.

The plantation property, as put together by Jacob Payne
in 1860, totaling 2519 acres, and as described in the above
advertisement, was finally purchased in 1885 by Hugo Mehnert
for the sum of $10,000. Mehnert used the former plantation
as a cattle ranch and for logging the timber. 1In 1892, he
sold the property to his father-in-law, William Rebentisch,
who used the land for the same purposes. The property
continued to be used for grazing cattle and occasional
logging until acquisition by the National Park Service‘8

Section 38, which Laurent Millaudon purchased, was the
remaining part of the east bank tract of the Spanish land
grant to Pablo Suarez Ruiz. The west bank Suarez tract,
Sectio£53, had been acquired by Payne. When Millaudon
purchased the triangular piece of land, it became part of
the largest sugar plantation in Louisiana. The plantation
had formerly belonged to Dominge Bouligny, and it had two
sugar houses in operation. That portion of the plantation
having 28 arpents fronting the Mississippi River, with its
sugar house and other buildings, was called the Millaudon
Front Plantation or Southside Plantation. The rear portion
of the plantation, extending down Bayou des Familles, with
its sugar house and other buildings, was called Estelle
Plantation. The east bank tract of the former-Suirez
Property thus became the rear extremity of Estelle

a
Plantation.”
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. Laurent Millaudon was one of the wealthiest men in
Louisiana. He was born in France in 1786, and came to
Louisiana in 1802. His real estate investments and business
ventures helped to develop the City of New Orleans. Among
these were the laying out of the upriver suburb of Carroll-
ton, and the construction of the New Orleans and Carrollton
Railrcad. On his plantation, he employed the latest

inventions in sugar machinery, as well as hundreds of

slave.s.10

Since there are no signs of cultivation on the tract

that was added to the Millaudon Plantation, it is apparent

that it never became part of the plantation sugar cane
fields. The land was probably used for pasture and logging.
. Laurent ;illaudon sold his plantation to Henry €. Millaudon
in 1869, and he sold it to Amos B, Merrill in 1870. Merrill
failed at an attempt to operate the plantation largely with
imported Chinese labor. and sold the property two years
later to Oakes Angier Ames and Frank M. Ames.11
The Ames brothers successfully operated the Plantation
for several decades. By the 1890s, the sugar houses were
Producing from 60,000 to 70,000 pounds of sugar a day, or
about 5,000,000 pounds during each sugar-making season.

King's Handbook of the United States, published in 1891,

states that the Ames were "among the first to introduce the
modern methods and appliances for the cultivation and

.harvesting of the crop, and the equipment is among the best

e
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and most efficient in the State. They have six miles of
permanent and portable railroad tracks; and introduced the
car for handling sugar cane, which has come into general use
of all sugar-raising countries, and has been of great
benefit to planters."12

Laurent Millaudon had a railroad on his plantation, as
shown on Zimpel's map of New Orleans in 1834. Millaudon was
one of the corporate developers of the New Orleans and
Carrollton Railroad. This railroad, which was chartered in
1833 and was operating with steam engines on St. Charles
Avenue by 1836, is said to have been the third railroad for
general transportation built in the United States. Millau-
don's plantation railroad was built prior to the construc-
tion of the Carrollton Railroad. Several other planters
had, by this early date, laid tracks into their fields and
used mules to pull the cars. Whether Millaudon used a steam
engine or mules to pull his cars, he was ameng the first to
use a railroad in the history of sugar production. 1In fact,
his railroad was among the first constructed in the world.
The Ames family enlarged Millaudon's railroad.13

Locomotives did not come into general use on sugar
plantations until the late nineteenth century. Perhaps the
innovation made by the Ames that is implied by King's
Handbook was the first use of a locomotive for hauling cane.
Oakes Angier Ames and Frank M. Ames had come to Louisiana

from Massachusetts. They were descendants of Oakes and

Oliver Ames of that State who were largely respoﬁsible for
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the financing and construction of the nation's first
.transcontinental railroad, the Union Pacific.“

In 1895, the Ames Plantation was sold to South Side
Plantation Company, incorporated in the State of Maine and
administrated by Frank A. Ames as treasurer. In 1899, Frank
Ames made a contract with Charles J. Brown, owner of the
Christmas Plantation downstream on Bayou des Familles, to
extend the railroad from the Estelle Sugar House to the
Christmas Plantation and to buy Brown's cane.15

The Christmas Plantation Railroad is described in
detail in Item 7 of the chapter entitled "Roads of the
Eighteenth and Nineteenth Centuries."” The railroad entered
the former Sudrez tract that Millaudon had acquired on the

’ east side_of the Barataria Road. En route to the Christmas

Plantation, it cut across the property owned by William

Rebentisch in Section 57.
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CHAPTER VIII

ROADS OF THE EIGHTEENTH AND NINETEENTH CENTURIES
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Nw from S end of study area, showing several routes
emin de Barataria/Camino Real de Barataria (a)

*ollowing semi-circular natural levee of the old river; 0ld Barataria Publis

“sad which in this location began as a servitude on the Christmas Plantation
i? 1865 (b); and the Christmas Plantation Headguarters Road, later called
214 Road and the Shell Road (c). Also shown: di oil drill site No., 8; e and f:

“3lique air view looking

©11 drill site access roadss £ Tafitte-Larose Highway.




Oblique air view at the intersection of the 01d Derrick
tation Railroad bed (A) and the 014
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Oblique air view of crossroads at end‘of the Shell Road, looking N, 2/23/86.
Ay 0ld Barataria Public Road at boundary of Christmas Plantation property
(originally drawn in 1768, Guerbois-Boudousquie boundary line), B, Several
courses of the Chemin de Barataria/Camino Real de Barataria., C; Main ditch
of the Christmas Plantation, a possible route of the Chemin de Barataria.

D: Shell Road/0ld Road/Christmas Plantation Headquarters Road, E; 0il drill
sitf No. 7 access road., Fi 011 drill sfite No, 6 access road, The Ring Levee
Trail,
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Captain G. W. Hughes, et. al., “Map of 2 Military Reconnais-~
sance and Survey of the Approaches to New Crleans from the
Culf of Mexico,” 1842, Detail of study area and environs.



Ma jor D. C, Houaton, "Military Approaches to New Orleans,”
1863, National Archives, Washington D. C., RG 77, ML06,
Detail of study area and environs.
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Southern shield fern and a large‘ tree grow on a Christmas Plantation
field road in gouthern part of the study area, looking SE. 3/86,
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archival documentation shows that many roads were
. .-ated 1D the study area during the eighteenth and nine-

.eenth centuries. Numerous segments of these 0ld road beds

e been 1ocated in the forest. Other old road beds that

hav
nave not yet been located may exist. Because the study area
;s densely vegetated, it was not possible to investigate
overy possible road location. Aerial photographs show
sumerous unusual linear tree lines, someé of which may

reflect old roads. _Some old roads may have been covered by -
alluvial deposits of floods or by accumulated mould on the

sorest floor and may only be discovered by archaeological

~——

investigations.

The segments of old road beds located by this study are
<hown on maps drafted for this report. Additional field
surveys may show:- that more connecting links of the roads
exist than have yet been located.

The character of the road beds differs. Some are low
and wheel rutted; some are raised a foot or more above the
level of the ground. The raised beds probably represent
roads that were shut off to further use while still in a
1 good state of maintenance. The drainage ditches that lined
i some road beds are sometimes visible as shallow linear
| depressions. In some cases, the present trails may be the

. remains of bordering ditches that were kept free of plant

| growth by intermittent standing water and subsequent
|



treading of humans and animals. Cattle have been pastured

. in the woods for hundreds of years. They undoubtedly used
many roads as cow paths and probably made paths of their
own.

Many road beds follow natural ridges created during the
abandonment of the old river distributary; and these roads
curve with the old meander bend of the river. 0ld maps
suggest that some roads may have existed in areas that have
now subsided and become swamp.

The road beds were largely constructed of earth,
usually thrown up from the ditches on the sides of the _
roads. Some roads may have been built of planks, especially
those which approached bridges and those in low, wet areas.

. Other roads were surfaced with clam shells removed from
pPrehistoric Indian mounds in the area. Occasional shells
can be seen on some roads today. Heavy traffic crushed and
churned the shells deep into the scil. Crawfish frequently
exume the shells and put them in the walls of their
"houses." Archaeological tests might reveal interesting
information regarding road construction.

The original trails in the area were probably Indién
trails and buffalo traces, and these were probably used by
the early settlers. Roads built later were often 25 to 80
feet wide, as described in the Jefferson Parish Police Jury

°rdinances, first published in 1825.%
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REGULATIORS,

vo f£ix the manner in which the Levees, Ways, and
gridges, are to be made and repaired, as well as
for the construction of Fences, the police
of cattle, and other objects of police,
within the Parish of Jefferson.

The Judge of the Parish of Jefferson, by and
gith the advice of the inhabitants composing the
police Jury of said Parish, convened according to
law, hath ordained and doth ordain as follows:

Art. 1. The breadth of the highways on beoth
banks of the river, and throughout the whole
extent of the Parish, without exceptionm, shall be

rowards the centre, sufficient to facilitate the
running off of the waters, and be lined on each
side by a draining ditch, two feet wide and one
foot deep.

Art. 2. The length of the bridges throughout
the whole Parish shall not be less than the
‘breadth of the roads, and their breadth shall be
at least three feet. They shall be made of

the road, and two inches in thickness, which

feet distance from each other, four inches below
the level of the rocad, so that the bridges be two
inches below said level., Those bridges which are
not constructed according to these propertions,
chall be made anew and in conformity thereto.

The bridges on the canals of sawmills and
others, shall be solidly constructed of planks
twenty feet long and two inches thick; they shall
be secured with rails, and the ascent to them
shall be easy and commodious.

others, twenty-five feet in breadth.
passage on the land reserved for public ways, all
penalty of a fine of Ten Dollars against the

person or persons whose duty it is to make and

persons, being thereto required by the syndic or

at least twenty-five feet; they shall have a swell

cypress plank of a length equal to the breadth of _

planks shall be supported by joists placed at four

Arr. 4. 1f there be any trees, hedges, ditches,
or other objects, which in any manner cbstruct the

|

|

i

|

|

|

‘ Art. 3. The wavs on the levees shall be, as all
\

i

| such obstructions shall be jmmediately removed, on
|

|

clear the way so obstructed, and the said fine may
’ be exacted for every time that the said person or
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syndics of the district, shall have faziled to

comply,

In this disposition are not comprised such trees
as are planted on the side of ways to form alleys,
and not obstructing the passage.

REGULATION,

Concerning the Barataria Road.

Art. 46. The Barataria road shall pass on the
right side of the bayou called Families' Bayou;

and the syndic is authorised

to cause all the

necessary work to be done; in conformity to the

following article.

Art. 47, The road shall be cleared for the
width of eighty feet through its whole length, and
the branches and bodies, and shoots of trees cut
away. The inhabitants shall not be bound to make

ditches on each side of

the road, except in the

Places that shall have been cleared seven years;
but as soon as seven years shall have elapsed
since the spot shall have been cleared, the syndic
shall order the ditches to be made.

In every parr where there shall be not ditches
on both sides of the road; as many traverse
ditches shall be made as shall be necessary to

rain the low grounds, and the said ditches shall

be covered by bridges.

The state and federal governments did not begin

Systematic programs of highway construction until the

automobile came into popular use in the early twentieth

century. In 1899, Gilbert D. Harris, geologist in charge of

the State Geological Survey, published a special Treport on

road making. He recommended that surveys and maps be made

of all roads in the State so as to

"establish a network of

known points and distances." He suggested that road beds be

lmproved, maintained, and fixed in permanent positions

, and

he recommended the use of shell or gravel, where possible,
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as ballast. Harris' description of the location of existing

roads probably portrayed the condition of roads in Bara-

taria.

No surveys yet made. — The vast majority of
Louisiana roads seems never to have been properly
located. They represent enlarged trails. They
are, within certain broad limits, wherever each
season the traveling public sees fit to go.
Observe the broad band of land on either side of
most any old or well recognized road and count the
different road beds of tens or scores of years ago
now recognizable as narrow long ditches and
frequently overgrown by forest trees. Look again
at the several lines of log roads ("causeways')
that can be seen running along parallel to each
other across marshy stretches.

Is there any real incentive to do thorough
and lasting work on a stretch of road that may
soon be paralleled by a new one, simply because
the old one somewhere had one impassable spot?

-

ROADS AND BRIDGE SITES IN THE
STUDY AREA LOCATED BY
ARCHIVAL DOCUMENTATION
AND FIELD SURVEY

1. Chemin de Barataria/Camino Real de Barataria/Barataria
Road.

followed the meander of the east bank natural levee of Bayou
des Familles, from the Mississippi River to Bayou Barataria.
As mentioned earlier in this report, a road following the
approximate course of the extant portions of the road was
undoubtedly constructed by the earliest settlers Jean-
Baptiste Massy, Jean-Baptiste Bourbeau, and Charles Frederig

de Merveilleux, who received a French grant to the land in

|
|
J
l
!
What was apparently the oldest road in Barataria
1726,
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The Spanish government reconstructed or realigned the
road when it laid out farm plots and built houses for Canary
Islander families who were settled on Bayou des Familles in
1779. As detailed earlier in this report, a series of
probable Canary Islander house sites have been located in
the study area about 200 feet distant ff&m extant portions
of the Barataria Road. The earliest map to show the road is
a Spanish map of about 1778 showing the property upon which
the Islefios were to be established. This map indicates that
a road followed both banks of Bayou des Familles between the
river and Bayou Barataria.3

A court case oé the early 1840s contains the testimony
of the oldest men living who could recall the earliest
appearance of the road. They testified that the road that
ran along the east side of the bayou was a royal road, and
that it had been a good road upon which carriages traveled.
Some remembered the road as being, at various times, in poor
condition. It had been built before the memory of the
witnesses.A

According to the testimony of Judge Henry Dugué
Livaudais, the road followed the east, or left, side of
Bayou des Familles from the river to Bayou Barataria and the
traveler could return to the river "in a long circuit" by
ascending Bayou Barataria and the canal on the Foucher
Plantation which was bordered by a road. This canal,
described earlier in this report, had been constructed in

the late 1730s by Claude Joseph Villars Dubreuil.’
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Dugué’Livaudais said that the road seemed to have been
’ "forced by the public, in some places trees had been felled
and in others they had not been cut down." It bridged Bayou
des Familles at the Deléry Plantation and again at the
confluence of Bayou Barataria. The area of the confluence
was called Coquilles because of the large.prehistoric shell
mounds located there. After crossing Bayou des Familles at
this point, the road ran westward along Bayou Barataria.
Dugu€ Livaudais had known the road since 1829 or 1830. He
said the "public crossed at Coquilles with a great deal of
difficulty, each traveler being obliged to construct a new
bridge, the one then made being constantly destroyed.”" He
said that he once "came near being drowned in endeavoring to
‘ cross the Bayou."6

By the 1840s, Laurent Millaudon said the road on the
east side of Bayou des Familles was a "mere pathwa?” used by
hunters. However, Louis Bringier, Surveyor General of
Louisiana, who surveyed these lands in 1830, said that from
the point called Coquilles to Deléry's bridge was "a fine,
wide road good for carriages." He saw carts passing on it
at that time.7

Louis Bouligny, who frequented the area from 1803 to
1812 said that the road, which ran through the woods, was
good when dry but bad in bad weather. Jean-Baptiste
Dubreuil Villars testified that the road was distant from

the bayou, low, covered with water, and not kept in repair.
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.5 Volant Labarre said that in 1838 he "readily

P b

¢ the road in a gig."8
Leave”
-ne road 1is shown on all detailed nineteenth century

. of the area. Although these maps may not have been

cay T

. 4iced with precise accuracy, the route of the road appears
_ have shifted slightly through the years. Aerial photo-
.raphs and features on the ground suggest that the road may
.ave taken several lateral semi-circular courses through the
srudy area at different time periods. The possible posi-
rions are shown'on maps drafted for this report.
A map of 1835 by surveyor Allou d'Hémecourt shows that

2 shortcut had been made in the semi-circular course of the
road, following the Guerbois-Boudousquié'property division
of 1768. The road ran just inside the Guerbois property_and
could have been made at any time after 1768. However, the
semi-circular route which followed the higher natural levee
also remained in use, perhaps especially in wet weather.
According to d'Hémécourt's map, the shortcut left the
semi-circular road approximately where the Ring levee Trail

Parking Lot is 1ocated and the park's Big Woods Trail begins

today.

In the early 1840s, the Jefferson Parish Police Jury
constructed a new road on the west wide of Bayou de Familles
to replace the old colonial road on the east side. However,
the new road was jmmediately closed by a legal suit. On
November 7, 1842, the Police Jury received a letter from

Laurent Millaudon, owner of the large plantation that
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Qonted the Mississippi River, offering "to change the
Barataria Road, and make the same at his lower limit." The
old colonial road passed through Millaudon's land, which had
formerly been the plantation of Domingo Bouligny. When
Bouligny and Francisco Dutillet bought the piantation in
1803 from Pedro Lartigue, the act of sale mentioned that
Lartigue maintained on his property a Camino Real which
connected with the Port of Barataria. Millaudon's offer was
to reconstruct the colonial road or to build another road

near it.lo

The Police Jury subsequently passed an ordinance
relocating the Barataria Public Road to the old colonial

.mte on the left bank, from the bridge at Deléry's Planta-
tion to Bayou Barataria. Above Deléry's bridge, the Public
Road was to follow the right bank of Bayou des Familles. By
1865, the Barataria Road was in very bad condition. The
Police Jury resolved that its construction should be
improved. The ditches on both sides of the road were to be
three feet Qide and two feet deep, instead of two feet wide
and one foot deep as had fermerly been required by parish
ordinance. It was further resolved that the 'road be
cleared of all incumbrances of twenty five feet in width on
each side of said road." The existing parish ordinance
stipulated that the road itself be 25 feet wide, but the
otal width of the clearing for the road was to be 75 feet

"!de.ll




Property line was given by the Surveyor as 1056 feet from
the bayou.

Another old granite boundary marker is Situated

on the west side of the road as it crosses the lower

property line. Other pPositions of the road given by Hauke

are less describable in terms of Present-day features in the

‘udy area,-but these pPositions have been carefully computed
and drafted on the map in this study entitled

"Terre Haute
de Barataria,"

which reconstructs the topography of the
mid-nineteenth century.12

Parts of the Chemin de Barataria/Camino Real de

Baratarfa/Barataria Road are being used by the NPS as part

of the Big Woods Trail. Other pParts have not been used in

Perhaps a hundred years or more but can stil] be di

scerned
Tunning through the woods.

Chemin des Coquilles and the roads on the west bank of

Bayou des Familles,

In colonial times, a shell (coquille) roagd passed along
.natural levee on the west wide of B

ayou des Familles in
the Study ares.

The shells of the roadbed had been removed
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. from the large prehistoric Indian mounds that then existed
at the confluence of Bayou des Familles and Bayou Coquilles.
The road was called Chemin des Coquilles. It was allowed to
grow over and had become nearly impassable by the early
nineteenth century. 1In 1817, a group of Barataria planters
signed an agreement to build a road on the west wide of
Bayou des Familles from the Mississippi River to Bayou
Barataria. The land on the west side of the bayou was said
to be a more desirable location for the road than the east
bank because it was higher and dryer. Work was begun on
this road in the 1820s in the vicinity of the study area,
but it was not completed and trees grew over it again.13

In 1825, the Jefferson Parish Police Jury passed an
.ordinance :hat the Barataria Public Road should be relocated
from the old colonial route on the left (east) side of Bayou
des Familles to the right (west) side of the bayou. The new
road on the right bank had not yet been constructed by the
late 1830s. On November 5, 1838, the Police Jury resolved
once again that the road should be built, and passed an
ordinance that it was to be 40 feet wide. Of this width,
only 25 feet was to "be more particularly cleared and
Prepared for the public road from the property of Messrs.
L. C. Deléry & Co." to the end of Boutte's Island (the
confluence of Bayou Perot and Bayou Rigolettes).14
In 1841, the Police Jury contracted with Louis Chauvin
.el'e'ry de Boisclair, Principal owner of a sugar plantation

located above the study area on the right bank, to build the
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road. The route of the road from the river to Bayou

.Barataria was laid out in 1834 by Jefferson Parish Surveyor
Benjamin Buisson. It is shown on a military survey map of
1842 by J. J. Williams, which notes that the road passing
through the location of the study area was bordered by
"woods on either side."!?

The Jefferson Parish Police Jury demanded that payment
for construction of the road be made by the two property
owners over whose lands the road passed. The two property
owners, John McDonogh and Allou d'Hémécourt, were absentee
owners. They objected that they did not use the lands, did
not want the road, and should further be indemnified for
damages caused by trespassing and cutting trees on their

.:ropertiesv In an ensuing court case in 1842~4, the judge
ruled that the Jefferson Parish Police Jury had acted in
"perversion of the laws" by attempting to force two
individuals to pay for a public utility and in expropriating
private lands for a public servitude without

indemnification.l6
At that time, much of the study area was part of John
McDonogh's Barataria lands. McDonogh had purchased his
Barataria property as an investment, and did not use the
lands. As a consequence of the legal proceedings, the road
built in 1841 on the right bank was closed and the road on
the left bank remained in use as the public road.!’

. The position of the road on the right bank bullt by

o

uis Delery for the Police Jury in 1841 is undoubtedly that




240

noted by Surveyor Hauke in 1855 as an "0ld road" bordered by

a fence at the end of a field, near the upper bayou corner

of the Sué}ez tract. According to Hauke's field notes, the

fence at the edge of the road would have been located at
404.58 feet from the stone marker on the opposite side of

the bayou, measuring along the Sudre:z property line. The

road noted by the surveyor ran along the levee/ditch system

bordering the old field that is visible today. There

appears to be partially washed-out road bed between the

levee and the swamp edging the bayou. The road crossed the

lrwer Sudrez property line at 237.6 feet from the bayou.18

Continuing segments of the parish road built in 1841
may éxist and may be discovered by future field surveys.

Other old road bed segments have been located on the west

bank of the bayou. Some of these are surfaced with shell.

South of the Bayou Coquilles, there are two raised linear

features located between the bayou and the highway and

running parallel to both. They have an elevation of three

or four feet and are about fifteen or twenty feet wide. A1l

these road beds and pPossible road beds could date fror any

road construction efforts of the eighteenth and nineteenth

centuries. Some undoubtedly date from the period of the

post-Civil War Christmas Plantation. The route of the

Plantation road, as it existed at the end of the plantation

Period, is shown on a 1910 survey map by J. W. T. Stephens.

Thg present highway may have been built upon portions of the

Toutes of many old roads. Other old road beds may be



beneath the s0il and may be discovered by future archae-
ological investigations. Seven bridge crossing sites, or

possible sites, have been located; others may yet be

found.19

3. Road to the bridge crossing of Bayou des Familles at

Bayou Coguilles.

In 1855, United States Deputy Surveyor Maurice Hauké
recorded in his field notes the position of a road leading
to an "old" bridge crossing over Bayou des Familles at Bayou
Coquilles. Hauke was measuring the western property line of _
the old_Guerbois tract, or Section 11 as shown on modern
topographical maps. At a point on this line opposite Bayou
Coquilles, the road to the old bridge ran S61W 4.9 chains
(328.4 feet). A small levee and ditch at this location may

remain from this road bed. A linear tree line marks the

route of the road on aerial photographs, and it appears to

Tun back into the swamp.zo

4, Field roads of the Christmas Plantation sugarcane

fields.

Several extant segments of the Christmas Plantation
field roads have been located, as shown on the map of extant
road beds in this report. The conjectured continuations of
these road segments are shown on the map of cultural
features of the Christmas Plantation. The road beds do not

Survive in all portions of the pecan orchard. They are
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built of earth and are about 15 feet wide and about one foot
high. Large trees grow upon the roads.

In contrast to the straight, geometric pattern of the
field ditches, furrows, and beds, the field roads follow the
curve of the old river meander bend. It is unusual for
field roads not to conform to a geometric.pattern. All old
maps that are detailed enough to show field roads on
plantatioﬁs on the Mississippi River show that the roads
were laid out in grid patterns. This arrangement was most
convenient for tending the fields. Field roads in the study
area follow the curving natural ridges formed during the -
abandonment of the o0ld river distributary. The positions of
the field roads suggest that some may be old routes of the
Chemin de_Barataria/Camino Real de Barataria/Barataria Road

reused as field roads.

5. The Christmas Plantation Headquarters road.

The headquarters road of the Christmas Plantation
exists today as the Shell Road, also called the Christmas
Road, or 014 Road. 1It connected‘the west bank of Bayou des
Familles with the Barataria Road, and the plantation
Structures were located beside it. The earliest map to show
the road is the "New Orleans, La." U.S.G.S. Quadrangle Map
of 1891, reprinted 1898. It is discussed in detail in the
Plantation and subdivision chapters of this study. The road

1s being obliterated by park development .2l
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6. The servitude extension of the Barataria Road northwest
. and southeast along the eastern boundary line of the

Christmas Plantation.

The straight segment of the Barataria Road that follows
the old Guerbois-Boudousquie property line of 1768 was
extended southward and northward from the Briginal cut off
points on the semi-circular Barataria Road at the time of
the establishment of the Christmas Plantation. When the
Widow Pierre Rochefort sold the property to Rufus King
Cutler and Pierre Ernest Beauvais in 1865 and 1866, the acts
of sale were made with "the express condition that they the
said purchasers shail reserve out of the land presently sold
an alley or passage of thirty feet in width on the whole

.length of the portion presently acquired by them, and on the
upper line of said property adjoining the property marked on
said sketch as belonging to Mr. Stackhouse, said alley or
passage to remain for the use and benefit of them the
present purchasers and all the present or future owners

nl2

The servitude was necessary for access to a portion of
Rochefort's property that lay above the tract purchased by
Cutler and Beauvais, above Bayou Coquilles and on the west
side of Bayou des Familles. This tract did not become part
of the Christmas Plantation until a later date.23

A ground search was not made for traces of the road at

.the porth end of the eastern Christmas Plantation boundary,
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. however, aerial photographs clearly show a linear demarka-
tion in tree crown cover along the entire length of the
boundary line to the north bend of Bayou des Familles, A
bridge crossing could have been located at this place.

The servitude road that follows the southern part of
the eastern Christmas boundary line became a route of the
Barataria Road and was long in use. It passes through
several natural, wet sloughs and was not a good location for
a road. Upon Teaching the bayou at the southern end of the
Chrlstmas property, the road turned eastward and closely
followed the bayou. The route is shown on the "New Orleans
La." U.S.G.S8. quadrangle map of 1891, reprinted 1898, 1t ig
Possible that the road also bridged the bayou at the

.southern end of the Christmas property at an earlier date to
join the continuation of the servitude to Bayou Barataria

which is discussed below in item G,

7. The Christmas Plantation Railroad bed.

In 1899, Charles J. Brown, owner of the Christmas
Plantation, contracted with Frank A. Ames, Treasurer of the
Southside Plantation Company, to build a railroad and sell
Sugar cane. Under the conditions of the contract, Southside
Plantation Company was to buy Brown's cane which he would
deliver to’ the Southside Plantation on a railroad that Brown
would build with money loaned by Southside Plantation

mpany., The company would take one half of the profits of

the sale of Brown's cane for three years to repay the loan
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o0 build the railroad. Meanwhile, Brown mortgaged the
Tailroad to Southside.Z2"
The contract specified that the railroad would run for

5.45 miles from a point on the Christmas Plantation to the

cane derrick belonging to R, Pritchard Lesassier on
Southside Plantation Company's Estelle Plantation. The
gauge of the track was to conform with the gauge of the
railroad existing on Southside Plantation. The ties were to
be "laid three feet between centres,” four spikes were to be
driven into each tie, or two to each rail on each tie, and
the ties were to extend two feet beyond the rails. The
sizes‘of all ties were to be six by eight inches and five
feet' long. The bed was to be graded and well tamped. There
.s to be a Main track and switch tracks. Brown had the
right to cut ties from timber along the part of the route
that passed through Southside Plantation and these were to
be made from "heart cypress.”" The rails were to be
Purchased from the Illinois Steel Company.25

A raised linear feature, about three feet high, fifteen
feet wide at the base, and about a half-mile long, known as
the 01d ?errick Road, was probably the bed of the railroad
in the Christmas Plantation property. As described in the
Plantation chapter of this report, a windless cane derrick
was located near this raised bed and loaded cane into
tailway cars,

A shell bed adjacent to a part of the raised

7-6d tould have been a switch track leading to the cane
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derrick. The raised bed bridged Bayou des Familles and
could have continued some distance on the west bank of the
bayou.

The bed of the railroad northward of the Christmas
property was apparently made of shell and was apparently
removed. The route of the railroad is a wet trail which
forms the eastern loop of the Big Woods Trail. Some shells
can still be seen on the trail. A timber survey map of 1901
shows that the railroad crossed the upper boundary line of
the Sudrez grant, or Section 38, where the protection levee
runs today, immediately eastward of the public road which
crossed at 690.36 feet from the stone marker by the bayou.
The railroad crossed the lower line of Section 38 at a
distance-of 405.9 feet east of the crossing of the road and
26

1372.14 feet east of the bayou.

The railroad was used for several years, and then the

rails and cross ties were removed.

A. Bridge crossing on the Sudrez tract (Sections 3 and 38,

T23S RI15E).

This bridge crossing is described in the chapter
entiéled "Settlement of the Late Spanish Period," although
it is not known if it actually dates from that period. It
was noted by United States Deputy Surveyor Hauke in his 1855

survey of the former Sudrez tract. It is located 356 feet

. downstream from the upper corner of the east bank Sudrez
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tract. A submerged brick foundation measuring about four
feet by fifteen feet was located at this position.27

Yet another bridge crossing and road apparently once
existed immediately above the upper Sudrez property line.
If traces of this road bed still exist, tﬁey may be found on
the west bank between the ditch that marks the Sudrez line
and the protection levee. The road was built in 1815 by
Dominique (or Domingo) Bouligny to save his sugar crop from
the flood waters of a crevasse. Because the Barataria Road
on the east bank of Bayou des Familles was covered with
water, he built a road on the west bank where the land was -
higher and dryer. The road ran down to the upper Sudrez
property line and there it crossed Bayou des Familles to
join the old Barataria Road on the east bank. At that time,
Louis Bouligny owned the former Suarez property and would
not permit his brother Dominique to cut a road through the
west bank tract because that tract was unimproved.
Apparently, a bridge crossing once existed approximately
where the protection levee today crosses tHe bayou. 1If,
however, the shape of the Sudrez property had been changed
by the adjusted Sudrez-Bouligny line, as shown on the Lafon
Survey map of 1816, the road would have followed the
Present-day protection levee, along the upper side of
Section 38.28

According to Percy Prestenbeck, Sr., an axe-felled

CYPress log about sixty feet long and about four feet in




! . diameter is submerged about 200 feet downstream from the

protection levee. It may be part of a collapsed bridge.29

B. The Pole Bridge.

The Pole Bridge was so named because, after it began to

pole when crossing it to maintain balance. This bridge

crossing is described in detail in the section of this
report entitled "Cultural Features of the Post-Plantation
Period to World War II," however it is very likely that the
bridge, which was d?lapidated by the early twentieth

|

\

fall apart, it was necessary to support one's self with a
|

\

|

| century, pre-dated this period. Some of the logs from the
|

\

‘ C. Possible bridge crossing.

\
|
|
l
|
. bridge are lying beside the bayou.30
| This possible bridge crossing is listed as Site No. 7
\ in "Probable Building Sites of the Spanish Colonial Period
| Located in the Study Area." Archaeclogical investigation

would be needed to determine the true nature of the site.

The 60-foot-wide site appears to be man-made fill and is

Suggestive of a bridge approach.

Coguilles.
Th

D, Bridge crossing Bayou des Familles opposite Bayou
e "old" bridge crossing noted by United States Deputy
|

| ‘SuWeyor Maurice Hauké in 1855 and mentioned in the above
dEScription of road #3, was apparently located.iﬁmediately
|
|
|




downstream from the mouth of Bayou Coquilles. A large

. Indian mound south of the confluence of Bayous des Familles
and Coquilles (State Survey Site No. 16JE37) and another
mound on the opposite side of Bayou des Familles were
apparently used as bridge supports. A map drafted for this

study shows the positions of the mounds and the probable

bridge position.31

The mound on the east side of Bayou des Familles was
thought to be prehistoric. However, it would have been

located in the bayou in prehistoric times; the prehistoric

shoreline is about 100 feet east of the mound. Archae-

ological testing by Richard C. Beavers and Associates showed
that the mound consisted of "dredge spoil" and metal was
‘ found at_a depth of 1.1 meters.

UNO 44, 16 JE 47, not a site

UNO 44 is located on the east bank of Bayou
des Familles directly across from its confluence
with Bayou Coquilles. 1Its dimensions are approxi-
mately 40 m N-S by 20 m E-W. It was recognized by
the presence of a grassy "mound" and associated
plaza. A1l m by 1 m test pit was excavated on the

wound. This excavation reygaled that the mound
consisted of dredge spoil.”“

Dredge spoil was undoubtedly deposited on the mound
when the gayou was dredged in the 1930s, however, the mound
and "associated plaza" could have been an approach to the
bridge crossing that was said to have been "0ld" in 1855.

Surveyor Hauké did not clearly state that the bridge of the

crossing was still standing.
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‘ E. "The 0ld Derrick Road" Bridge.

According to Louis Ehret, the bridge over Bayou des
Familles at the "0ld Derrick Road," a raised road bed, was
gone by 1912. The road is assumed to be the plantation
railroad bed. The earthwork approaches of the bridge

crossing protrude slightly into the water.33

F. The Christmas Plantation Headquarters Bridge.

As detailed in the section of this report entitled
"Structures on the Christmas Plantation," the Stephens map
of 1910 shows that the plantation headquarters bridge was
located about 100 feet downstream from the present bridge
crossing of the Shell Road. This was the probable position
of a cypress log float bridge constructed by the plantation
owner, Pierre Ernest Beauvais, after he was given permission
to build the bridge by the Jefferson Parish Police Jury in
1867. The bridge approaches are slightly raised areas that

support dead trees on the swampy shores.3&

G. Possible plantation bridge site.

A bridge crossing may have been located several hundred
feet upstream from the park boundary at the southern end of
the study area, in the Place where the NPS has constructed a
boom on the bayou. A plantation field road heads toward the

bayou at this location, as shown on the map of extant road

’ beds. This could also have been the location of Beauvais'

float bridge mentioned above.




‘ It is possible that the field road leg to a bridge at
this location because the servitude to Bayou Barataria

reserved for the Christmag Property was a 35-foot-wide road

Or passage that ran nearby along the uPPer boundary line of

Section 11 for 35 arpents between the bayou and the

Christmas Plantation,
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CHAPTER IX

THE PAPER SUBDIVISION
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. After being cultivated in sugar cane for nearly half a
century, that portion of the Christmas Plantation lying on
the east bank of Bayou des Familles was laid Out in streets
and lots for development as a residential subdivision. It
remained a ''paper subdivision" for nearl§ three quarters of
a century until acquired by the National Park Service. Al-
though most of the streets were cut when the subdivision
was laid out in 1910, few lots were sold and residential
development never occurred. The subdivision existed only in
legal land title, that is, "on paper'".

Metropolitan New Orleans evolved and grew from the
original Vieux Carre to the present tri-parish megalopolis

. by the ever-expanding process of subdividing plantations
into streets and lots for residential and commercial use.

By the early 1800s, plantations in what was to become Jeffer-
son Parish were being subdivided. The first residential
development ‘on the west barnk of the Mississippi River in
Present-day Jefferson Parish was McDonoghville, divided into
lots by John McDonogh in 1815. By the late 1830s. many
Plantations on both sides of the river in Jefferson Parish
Were being surveyed for the drawing up of subdivision plans.
Most of these real estate ventures did not actually develop
for more than a hundred years. Their streets and lots were

8 reality only in court house records, and the land remained

in Cultivation or in woodland, swamp, or marsh. The few lots

that were sold were frequently inaccessible because the

Btreets of the subdivisions were often never cut. Jefferson
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I!arish wWas nored for

known as "helicopter lots. "1

what, in more recent vears, became

In areas more remcte from New Orleans, such as Bazra-

taria, large land holdings were increasingly subdivideg

into smaller farm plots to supply the New Orleans marker

with vegetables, fruit, and dairy products. The residi-

dential subdivision of & portion of the Christmas Plapr:

ool —-

tion was an unusuyal real estate ventyre for the area, ang

it failed. Urbanizatior was to be many more years in Coming
to Baratzarig. 2
The subdivision was laid out by northern business -

interests. The Jefferson Land Company was incorporategd on

.mary 27, 2908, in Augusta, Maine, with S. L. Shaw as

President and J. E. Hartenbower as vice-president.

However,
the Board of Directors met in Tonica, Illinois, and lgtc
vere offered for sale by the Burton D. Hurg Company in

A New Orleans attorney, Gervais Lombard, was

8uthorized to serve 45 agent in the execution

The Christmas Plantation had beep acquired by parties

of the Corporation severaj Years earlier. George H. T,

Shaw °f Dixon, Illinois, purchased the plantation from

Charles J. Brown in 1803.

w

Shaw also bought other large

tations op Bayou des Familles, the Pecan Grove Plantat:np

¥

the Carter Plantation. By a private act of sale in I:1:-

- -l

» Shaw S5old the Christmas Plantation to J. E, Hartenbowi:
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in 1804. Hartenbower transfered the property to a corpora-

tion entitled the 0l1d Plantation Company, Limited, for

which he served as president. Then, ip 1909, the 0id Pian-
tation Company so0ld the Christmas property to the Jefferson
Land Company for $19,500. At the 5ame time, G. H. T. Shaw

sold the plantations he had acquired on Bayou des Familles

to the 0ld Plantation Company which sold them to the Jeffer-

son Land Company.4

The plan for the residential subdivision was drafted

by New Orleans Civil Engineer J. W. T. Stephens in March,

1210, after he had surveyed the property. The subdivision

.was laid out on the east side of Bayou des Familles, in the

bend of the bayou between the bayou and the Old Barataria

Road. It was given four principal streets named First,

Second, Third, and Fourth Roads, and it was given four

Cross streets named South?Road, 0ld Road, First North Road,
and Second North Road. Bayou des Familles Road was to

border the bayou. The streets were 50 feet wide, and most

of them were cut.d

The subdivision contained 104 blocks or squares. Those

¥hich faced the bayou were irregular in shape. The rest

Weasured 330 by 396 feet. Each of the standard squares

Contained 12 lots, and each lot measured 66 feet in frontage

by 165 feet in depth.®

. The subdivision stretched for nearly two miles. Young

Pecan trees were planted in the lots in a mile- 1ong area in

the Center of the subdivision to enhance the value of the




lots and induce sales. An electric railway proposed for
the west bank of Bayou des Familles would have presumably
carried commuters to and from the remote suburb. The rzil-
way was never built.”

In all, only 16 squares and portions of sguares were
sold during the seven decades that passed between the time
when the subdivision was laid out and the recent acquisition
of the land by the National Park Service. These squares,
numbers 17, 22, 23, 24, 27, 28, 29, 33, 38, 43, 44, 47, 54,
58, 63, and 68, were located in the midst of the pecan

orchard. Residential development never occurred.S8

' ¥hen the land holdings of the bankrupt Jefferson Land

ompany we€re acquired in 1818 by Robert J. Perkins of New
Orleans, the only subdivision squares which had been sold
were:

Squares 54 and 47 to Mattias Schlingen, April 18, 1911.

Squares 33 and 38 to Mrs. Mary Helm, wife of D. Harvey
Helm, January 12, 1912.

Squares 58, 63, and 68 to Octave Suares, December 1, 1910.
Square 29 to George J. Isenmann, April 18, 1911,
Square 27 to William A. Benton, March 26, 1914.
Square 44 to William Laferriere, April 18, 1911.

Square 43 to Mrs. Mary Helm, widow of D. Harvey Helm,
March 1, 1913.

Square 17 to A. Vere Martin, April 15, 1913.9

. In addition to these subdivision squares, the Jefferson

Land Company sold five acres of land on the west bank of

Bayou des Familles, south of the present Shell Hoad, to




. William Gomez on February 12, 1912. Gomez and his wife,
Mary Eskine Gomez, lived on the tract of land in =2 house
that had probably belonged to the Christmas Plantation
until 1920 when he sold the property to Robert Logan
Perkins. 10
Robert Logan Perkins was probably a ;on of Robert J.
Perkins and his wife, Mary Virginia Logan Perkins. The
elder Perkins came to New Orleans from Lafourche Parish
and graduated from the Tulane University Law School in
1893. He then began his law practice in Jefferson parish
and served for nine years as district attorney for the parish.
He later relocated his law practice to New Orleans.ll
The lands that Robert J. Perkins acquired from the
. bankruptey of the Jefferson Land Company stretched for
six miles along Bayou des Familles. He apparently made no
effort to develop the property but granted leases to the

Delaware Louisiana Fur Trapping Company, Incorporated, and

the Kelly Land Company of Texas for oil and gas exploration.

’ He probably also sold timber from the lands and grazed
ctattle. Perkins mortgaged the property to the Canal Bank

and Trust Company of New Orleans. This company acquired
the property following Perkins' bankruptcy in 1934.12

The Canal Bank and Trust Company continued to exploit

l the resources of the land, but apparently did not attempt

10 develop the residential subdivision nor to subdivide

|

8nd sell other parts of the large property composed of the

i . former plantations. The company let logging coniracts and
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leasses for lives*ock grazing, and occasional leases for
some truck farming.13

Robert Logan Perkins retained the five-acre Gomez
tract and subdivision Square 44 until 1939 when these
properties were sold for unpaid taxes by ihe Jefferson
Parish Sheriff. Louis L. Dauenhauer, Sr. purchased the
properties at the sale for $41.30. The Dauenhauer family
did not use the properties but retained them until they
were acquired by the NPS in the early 1980s.14

Beginning in the late 1950s, the owners of many of
the subdivision squares that had been sold leased mineral
rights to oil and gas exploration companies. Although
some seismic exploration may have taken place 1in the late
1950s, aerial photographs show no changes in tree cover
until the 1960s and 1970s when several lots were partially
cleared for apparent oil explorationm work. Oil explo-
ration in the study area will be treated in the following
chapter.

in the late 1960s and early 1970s, State and Con-
gressional legislative actions began to be made toward the

establishment of a park in Barataria. At the same time,

real estate speculators accelerated the exchange of ''paper’

land sales, frequently escalating the market price of the
properties beyond their true value. The many property
exchanges had little actual effect on the land, therefore
this study will not detail these numerous title trans-

actions.15
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During the 1970s, the remaining unsold portions of the
Christmas tract passed from Southdown, Incorported to
Zapata Norness, Incorported to Zapata Development Corpora-
tion to Leo G. Rose to Christmas Lands to American General
Investment Corporation to Cross Timbers Development Corpora-
tion. The National Park Service purchased the property
from the last named corporation in 1980 for $4,225,000.00.16

In 1974, 48 small lots facing the east side of Highway
45 were surveyed and drafted for Christmas Lands by Civil
Engineer John E. Walker. Several larger tracts were also
drafted between the highway and the bayou. A number of
these'lots and tracts were sold, as were some of the yet-
unsold lots in the original subdivision. New streets were
dedicated by the Jefferson Parish Council to run between
the new lots. The streets were not cut, and the "paper”
Ssales had little or no effect on the land itself, 17

An interesting description of the paper subdivisiorn
was given in an appraisal report in 1980, on the eve of
the subdivision's incorporation into the new National Park.

The subdivision contains 1191 lots plus

st.eets for a gross area of 382.25 acres. This

includes 1083 regular shaped lots 66' x 165' and

108 irregular shaped lots. Some of the lots had

been sold off in years past and as of March 17,

1878 there were 927 regular shaped lots and 108

irregular lots plus the respective street areas

that had not been individually sold. This comes

to 337.25 acres. Recently there were 9 lots sold

in two separate transactions. Therefore, it ap-

pears that Cross Timbers Development Corporation

owns 918 regular shaped lots and 108 irregular

shaped lots. The 9 lots represent about 2.25

acres plus 1/2 of the adjoining streets (25 x
594) which is 14,850 square feet or approximately
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. 6 acres. The estimated Cross Timbers owner-
1p of streets and lots comes to about 334.65
e

Cross Timbers Development Corporation has
registered the subdivision with the Department
of Housing and Urban Development. The subdi-
vision was of record prior to the time Jefferson
parish began to require the developer to physi-
cally install or financially guarantee streets
and utilities. Jefferson was famous for its
"paper'" subdivisions and many a developer sold
lots that had no frontage on a physical street.
Later the owners shared in the cost of the bond
lien programs where the parish installed streets
and utilities. Because this subdivision does
qualify as a '"paper" subdivision, lots could be
sold with no obligation on the developer to
install streets and utilities.

It would be unfortunate if this were to
happen. This tract is one of the prettiest un-
improved tracts south of Lake Pontchartrain.
Pecan orchards on the site appear on a Gandolfo
survey to cover an area equivalent to about 11
squares which is approximately 35 acres. The
pecan trees look to be older than the Stephens—
survey or a least 75 years old.

The remainder of the site needs to be cleared.
Throughout this wooded remainder are breautiful
oak trees that must be hundreds of years old.
1f the surrounding trees were not there, these
oaks would have probably spread out like those
in Audubon Park. This can partially be seen in
the photographs included herein.

In the wooded area there are palmettos grow-
ing throughout. As a matter of fact they can be
seen in one of the photos to be growing profusely
in a beautiful grove of oak trees. The wooded
areas are not cross ditched and the water can
stand in there. In the pecan grove the land has
been cross ditched and except for the ditches
themselves it is basically dry.

There is another drawback to sale of this
land as a paper subdivision. The layout is not
good at all. There is a street on the entire
perimeter. This means that cost of these streets
must be amortized by the lots on only one side of
the street, and there is too much street area
because of this. On the Bayou des Familles side
this is even worse. Instead of having high
priced lots backing up to the bayou as on Park
Island or Oak Park in New Orleans, these lots
face the street on the bayou.
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Additionally, the streets are in a straight

-rid pattern except for the perimeter. Winding
rreets offer a more attractive appearance and
nigher priced lots. The problem of the previous
sales 1s a serious one, but if cooperation could
sot be obtained from these owners, a better lay-
out could still be arranged incorporating their
squares in the layout.

The subdivision is on the east side of Bayou
des Families. Cross Timbers Development Corpora-
tion owns other areas between the bayou and Bara-
taria Road. Previous OWners sold sections of the
jand fronting on Barataria. Some of these sales
are of sites that extend all the way to the Bayou.
Other sales are of sites that leave land between
the bayou and the front site. For instance, .
the land between the bayou and Tract Y which had
peen sold earlier is 14.4321 acres. Behind par-
cels A, B and X there appears to be another 8.286
acres. This brings this total to 22.7181 acres -
petween the bayou and Barataria frontage tracts
that have been previously sold.

. This is certainly unusual. It is doubtful
that there is any market for this land except tO -
the purchasers of the frontage. It would not be
economically feasible to rum streets there be-
cause there is not enough depth and at best you
would only get one sided use of the streets

To develop the subdivision, 2 new bridge
over the bavou would have 10O be constructed.
Using this as as an exclusive entrance, the se-
curity angle could be emphasized in advertising.
Undoubtedly, a smart developer would locate the
bridge where he owned the Barataria Road frontage.
At that point you would have a couple of commer-
cial sites. . . .

The remazinder of the Barataria Road frontage
could be used for residential lots with road
frontage and the bayou to the rear. This type
of residential is in great demand. To see what
can be dome with sites like these one need only
drive into Crown Point to_see some of the lovely
nomes on Barataria Road.

That part of the study area that lies eastward of the

Christmas Plantation property remained entirely forested

and undeveloped until oil exploration began there in the

1960s. The o0il operations will be discussed in the following

L__‘_—___—_——_iiiiier. Before the 1960s, logging and cattle grazing were
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the Principajl activities jp this area, zg they had beep
in the bPreceeding Century. 4 fey Negroes lived in cabins
in these woods and hunted, fished, trapped,'gathered Spanish

mosSs, and cyt railroag Cross-ties and fence posts. 19

the Carter Plantatiop in the pPost-Civil war period. The

Hugo Mehnert ip 1885, ang he so1gd the Property to William
Rebentisch in 1892, They usegq the plantatiop 48 a cattle

ranch, Rebentisch's daughter, Charlotte,wasMehnert's

.e.. She aTquired the Property fropm her father in 1902

Ferdinand Hugco Dietze and Charlotte Amy Dietze, Erang-
Children 0f Mrs. Charlotte Rebentisch Mehnert, inheriteq
the Property ip 1927, The granddaughter Was the wife of

Burton M. Ashley, and she later Temarriegd Louis DeLimon .

ﬁ%t Of the Property which lies withip the stnAe awa.
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comprising 464 acres, to the national Park Service for
2,086 ,000.00. 22

Section 38 of T13S-R23E, comprising 86 acres. was
originally part of the Pablo Sufrez Ruiz Spanish lang
grant. As previously detailed, the tract became the
rear part of the large Millaudon Plantation which fronted
on the river, in 1859, The rear part of the Millaudon
Plantation was called Estelle Plantation, and the rear
part of Estelle Plantation was called Lower Estelle.
Section 38 was at the extreme lower limit of Lower Estelle.
The area remained uncultivated and wooded through the

lantation period. It Was used for logging and cattle
‘;razing. -

During the late nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries, Estelle Plantation was owned by the Ames family's
South Side Plantation Company. 1In 1818, this company sold
its holdings to Ames Farm Land Company, Incorporated for
the purpose of selling farm plots. 1In 1818, 1920, ang 1830,
Civil Erngineer J. W. Stephens drafted maps dividing the
Plantation into smaill tracts, In 18935, the Crescent Begd
COmpany of New Orlieans purchased nine of the tracts,
totaling 372 acres, including Section 38,23

The president of Crescent Bed Company was Peter Jung,
8r. 1t is interesting to note that, like the neighboring

7' .nd owners Mehnert, Rebentisch, and Dietze, Jung was of

Germay descent. He was born in New Orleans in 1858, and he

. ¥ent into the furniture business. 1In 1800, he started an
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. - bed company. He was also the proprietor of the Jung
-
JLEse

although many of the Ames farms were purchased for
.cuck farms and dairies, Peter Jung did not develop Section
;. In 1949, the Crescent Bed Company conveyed the property
.0 Jung, Incorporated. In 1959, Arthur L. Jung, Jr.
.eceived the property from the estate of Peter Jung. The
vational Park Service acquired the property from Arthur
Jung.25

Although most of the land transactioms in the study
area postdating the plantation period were "paper sales,"
and little use was made of the land, the study area contains
a nuﬁber of cultural features and sites of the period.

-

CULTURAL FEATURES DATING FROM THE POST-PLANTATION
PERICD TO WORLD WAR IT

The pecan orchard.

The most apparent cultural feature of the post-
plantation period in the study area is the pecan orchard.
1t strecches for a mile on the old river bed on the east
side of Bayou des Familles. A detailed description of the
orchard is given earlier in this study as "Hardwood
Succession area #5."

The pecan trees were planted as a means of promoting
the sale of lots when the Jefferson Land Company Subdivision
was laid out in 1910. In the early twentieth century, the

development of residential subdivisions as pecan or fruic
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_.-ds was 8 popular real estate marketing device in the
example downriver from New

.cns of New Orleans. An

the Versailles Pecan Groves, WwWas advertised in 1916

jnSv
Only a Few Minutes from Canal

migke YOu Independent,

and was touted toO be an investment "for your

:treet"
dren's children for many generations

-rildren and your chil

l'26
-0 come.
A number of profitable pecan orchards were located in
ury. In 1912,

jefferson parish in the early twentieth cent

orchard on the West Bank

one acre of a ten-year-old pecan

was offered for sale for $3,000. In addition to sale of the _

nuts, revenue was derived from the cultivation of corm,

vegetables, OT hay grown beneath the pecan trees, and

ed in the orchards. The Jefferson Land

1ivestock were gTraz

Company orchard was maintained in these ways, and the

streets of the subdivisio

photographs of 1945 show t

n were used to service the orchard.

However, aerial hat, by that time,

most of the pecan orchard had been abandoned and was |
|

undergoing reforestation.

Land Company Subdivision.

in 1910 according

The streets of the Jefferson

n streets were laid out
r J. W. T. Stephens of New

The subdivisio

an drafted by Civil Enginee

to a pl
treets run in a northwest-southeast ‘

Orleans. The principal s

and they parallel the Dauter
he 01d Barataria Road that

direction, ive property division
lines of 1768. That part of t
nto the ‘

£ollows one of these lines was incorporated i
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_sivision ctreet system. Moving from the Barataria Road

..avd the Bayou, the streets are named First, Second, Third

- rourth Roads. Four perpendicular cTOSS Streets are

,med, from north to south, Second North Road, First Ncrch

-

z0ad, Old Road, and South Road. According to the plan,

H zgyou des Familles Road was to border the east bank of the -

pavou which was to be a "navigation canal.” An electric

railway was proposed to run on the backslope of the westbank

anatural levee but was never built.28

The road fronting the east bank of the bayou was never

constructed, but most,

apparently cut in 1910. They are often visible on the

ground and as tree lines om aerial photographs. The extant

street beds are the 50-foot width shown on the subdivision

5lan, and they are sometimes bordered by shallow ditches.
01ld Road, also called the Shell Road and the Christmas

Road, was the old plantation headquarters road which weas

incorporated into the subdivision. This road was apparently
never widened to the 50-foot-width of the subdivision
streets. It is only about 13 feet wide and is bordered by
deep ditches. Soon after the laying out of the subdivision,
the road was extended directly across Bayou des Familles to
join with the road on the west bank of the bayou. The
present wooden bridge probably dates from the 1960s, but
many old bridge pilings are jocated under the bridge. Some
of these pilings could date from the original bridge that

was constructed at this gite when 01d Road was extended soon

if not all, of the other streets were _

S
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..y the 1aying out of the subdivision. The old plantation
"“icurved slightly as it neared the bayou and crossed
¥:ut 100 feet downstream from the crossing of the sub-
.ision 01d Road. Archaeological testing by R. Christopher
-codwin and Associates revealed the crushed shell mixed with
,ccasional small particles of brick that composed the bed of
che plantation road on the south side of the subdivision
oxtension of 014 Road near the bayou.29

0ld Road and Third Road, also called the Pecan Orchard
Road and the 01d Field Road, remained in use after the roads
were ;llowed to revert to forest. The north end of Third -
Road bridged Bayou des Familles and connected with the
public road on the west bank of the bayou, as shown on a map
of 1918. A search was not made for the bridge crossing
site; somes remains of the bridge may exist. The map also
shows that Third Road was shelled and that at least the
portion 0ld Road from the shelled road on the west bank of
the bayou to Third Road was surfaced with shell. The map
labels Third Road "Shell Road" and notes that the road is
bordered with "Pecan Orchards."30
Shell was undoubtedly laid on the roads by the

Jefferson Land Compaﬁy to facilitate both the harvesting of

pecans and the selling of lots. Occasional shells can be

seen on Third Road. 01d Road was apparently shelled when it

was a plantation road and it continued to be resurfaced with

shell because it remained in use to present-day. According
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Brick chimney of the Gomez House, looking NE. 2/86.
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- ouis Ehret who frequented the area between 1912 and

‘he road still looks the same as it did in 1912.°°

- v

-.;ce Highway 30.
Louisiana State Highway Cormission maps of the 1920s

.nd 1930s show that the old Chemin de Barataria or Camino
real de Barataria, more recently known as the 0ld Barataria
oublic Road, was part of State Highway 30. According to
frank Ehret, Jr., who moved to Barataria with his family in
1918 when he was one year old, the road "was a wagon trail
sparsely covered with clam shells in spots.” The wheels of
rhe Ehret Model-T Ford "would bog down in soft spots on the
road" and "many times you had to travel off the road a
distance to avoid the deep ruts." He recalls traveling the
road as a child with his family by automobile in the 1920s,
and he many times traveled the road on horseback in the
early 1930s.

In dry weather the road was passable but in
rainy weather your chances of stalling were
probable. In many places the car would circumvent
the bad sections and then come back to the old
road, making detour road beds all along the ridge.

As 1 can remember there were several roads and
bridges over Bayou des Familles that would connect
the old public road to the new shelled road on the
west side of the bayou. One crossing was at Ross
Plantation. The next omne going south was just
beyond the present parking lot in the Jean Lafitte
Park by the Twin Canals. Further south, before
the turn approaching Coquilles, was another omne.
It was called the "pole bridge." 1t was a
floating bridge of long cypress logs across the
bayou four abreast and linked together by cross
rimbers. The logs are still there except they are
scattered along each shore. The next bridge was
at the house where Willie gamez lived at the
entrance of Brown's field.
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~he bridge crossing below Twin Canals remembered by Mr.

. was probably that previously mentioned which connected

...rd Road to the west bank road. A search was not made for
-¢ site of this bridge. The "pole bridge” was located
~elOW Fourth Road. When the bayou was dredged in 1938, some
of the large logs that formed the bridge were thrown on the
-wampy shores on both sides of the bayou. According to Mr.
shret, the appellation of "pole bridge" was given because
rhe bridge had become partially dismembered by the 1920s,
and it was necessary to support one's self with a pole while
walking across it in order to maintain one's balance.33

The approach to the bridge on the west bank is a
200-foot-wide area that includes what appears to be man-made
£i11 in a slough. It is located about 1950 feet northward
on Highway 45 from Bayou Coquilles. The bridge crossing may
have pre-dated the rwentieth century. It may not have been
related to the subdivision Fourth Road which may never have
been entirely cut. An attempt was not made to locate the
east bank approach and road leading to the bridge.

The bridge at the Gomez house, mentioned by Mr. Ehret,
was that of the subdivision 0ld Road which connected the 0ld
Barataria Road-Highway 30 with the west bank road. 01d
highway maps indicate that 01d Road was used as part of the
highway system.

The 0ld Barataria Road - Highway 30, following the 1768

Gerbois-Boudousquié property line, crossed Bayou des

Familles at the southern end of the study area. An earth
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_harkment existing this location served as a bridge
J??:oach.

0ld highway maps also 1abel the road on the west bank
.z Bayou des Familles as Highway 30. During the 1920s or
-930s, maintenance of the east bank highway was abandoned by
-ne State in favor of the west bank road. Thereafter, the
east bank road was used largely by hunters, trappers,
loggers, and moss-pickers. 1t then became known as the "0ld

parataria Road" while the west bank road appropriated the

name of the "Barataria Road."Ba

The west bank road was surfaced with shells removed
from the prehistoric Indian burial mounds on Bayou
Coquilles. According to Mr. Ehret, 'it was a common sight
to see bones and parts of skulls on the side of the road
bed." The road bridged Bayou Coquilles, probably in the
sape location that it crosses the bayou today. Mr. Ehret
recalls that

Many people feared crossing this site at
night, especially the Negroes. There were all
sorts of tales and stories about ghosts and weird
sounds. Some said Jean Lafitte's ghost still
haunted the area of the oaks that he frequented
during his life, while others said it was the
ghosts of the Indians whose graves were desecrated
by those hauling off the clam shells from the
middens. Horses were said to have shyed and
thrown their riders.

One of the fears here was real. During the
days of prohibitiom, bootleggers came through
Bayou Coquilles with luggers loaded with five
gallon cans of liquor. At Coquilles they would
unload onto trucks that would go to New Orleans.
Hi-jackers who were tipped off about the boats
coming in would be in wait and try to take the
liquor.35Many were killed in shoot-outs that
ensued.
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although the west bank road was designated by the State

Lrt of Highway 30 in the 1920s, the road did not legally

2

A

-ecome part of the State highway system until 1930 wher the

i-ate purchased the right-of-way from the land owner,

nchert J. Perkins. Prior to that time, it was a private
.0ad which had served the plantations on the west bank of
che bayou. The sale by Perkins was made for six miles of
100 foot-wide right-of-way £or $3,000. The existing road
was 30 feet wide and had numerous curves, therefore the
state purchased the right-of-way with the privilege of
relocating the road to the most desirable locations.36

The old plantation road on the west bank of the bayou
’ approximated the route of the present highway and was _
undoubtedly used as a public road after the demise of the
piantations. The road is shown on Stephen's subdivision map
of 1610, and portions of the old road bed appear to exist
adjacent to the present highway. Other stretches of the old
road seem to be under the present highway.

The State improved the plantation road for public use
in the 1920s and may have then relocated some portions of
the road bed. Because the State did not own the right-of-

way, Robert Perkins brought suit against the Louisiana

Highway Commission, enjoining the Commission from further
maintenance of the road. After the State purchased the

. right-of-way in 1930, the Highway Commission eliminated some

of the curves. The shell road was asphalted during the

i—_————
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The State redesignated the road as Highway 45 in the

public service right-of-ways and easements were granted

acent to the highway resulting in the

rough the forest. In 1926, Robert

clearing of a wide band th
o South Central Bell

perkins granted a general permit t

Telephone and Telegraph Company.
d to the telephone company by the

Additional right-of-way

permits were grante
nal Bank and Trust Company, in

subsequeﬁt 1and owner, the Ca

1938 and 1941. The telephone right-of-way 1is 50 feet

wide.
in 1931, soon after selling the highway right-of-way to

the State of Louisiana, Robert Perkins granted an elec-

for the consideration of $1.00. Again,

tricity right-of-way

in 1938, Louisiana Power and Light Company was granted a

operate and maintain electric

75.-fcct easement to construct,

1ines near the highway. The cutting and mowing of the

created artificial plant communities along the highway.39

e Texas Pipe Line Company Right-of Way.
the Texas Pipe Line Company
hrough

Th

In 1935 and in 1937,

purchased the right to lay and maintain a pipeline t

the study area. The pipelin

arataria Public Road

area along the west side of the 01d B

that follows the 1768 Guerbcis-Boudousquié'pro

e right-of-way enters the study

perty dividing
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oy The right—of-way is about 20 feet wide and lies
Vir:ially in the 0ld.Barataria Road and partially in the
.- lowing subdivision lots: Lots 1 through 7 of Block 1 and
1 through 6 in each of Blocks 2, 3, &4, 12, 13, 20, 21,
31, 40, 41, 50, 51, 60, 61, 70, and 71. The right-of-
way north of the junction of the Shell Road is noticeable as
. cleared strip now overgrown with young trees and saplings.

south of the Shell Road, the position of the right-of-way is

apparently indistinguishable from the road. Two parallel

pipelines are laid in the right-of-way, an eight inch oil

pipeline and a six inch gas pipeline.
The pipeline right-of-way turns nearly due north at

3564 feet northwestward from the Shell Road, crosses under

———

the 0ld Barataria Road, and proceeds in a straight line
g
through the swampy gzadé on the backslope of the natural

levee. Here, the right-of-way is thickly grown over with

palmettos and some young trees. The pipeline right-of-way

1eaves the study area when 1t crosses under the protection

levee at the north boundary of the park. The pipelines

carried oil and gas from the many 0oil fields in the southern

Barataria Basin to a terminus on the Texas and Pacific

Railroad near the river at Marrero.
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J. C. Culbertson, "Map Showing the Location of the Texas

Pipe Line Co’s

Range 23 E., Jefferson Parish, La.,” Oct. 25, 1935,

6" Pipe Line in Section 78 Township 15 South,

Annexed

to Right of Way Grant from Ferdinand H. Dietze and Mrs.

Charlotte Amy Dietze, widow of Burton M.

Pipe Line Company, recorded December 9, 1935,

JPCH.

Ashley, to The Texas
CORB 126, f., 668,



_ ,¢ stakes with numbered copper plates.
.//
~ unusual cultural feature that apparently dates from

L)

a3

carly post-plantation period is a plot of small stekes

me

. numbered copper plates.

_.-nwest of the 0ld Barataria Road from a point on the road

The plot is located 275 feet

.30 feet southeast of the Ring Levee Trail parking lot.

The plot measures about 15 feet by 22 feet. It appears
.o have been laid out to contain six rows of stakes with
.ach row having ten stakes positioned about 18 inches apart.
Only one stake remains in the sixth row; the other stakes

have apparently been removed from this row.

.The stakes are made from small cypress branches and

———

‘ weasure about 37 cm in length. The copper plates are

circular and measure 3.5 cm in diameter. They are engraved

or stamped with numbers and have a hole through which copper
wire is inserted. The wire is inserted in a hole at the top
of the stake and twisted together.

The purpose of the numbered stakes is unknown, however,
they may have been used for a vegetation study. The
location of the plot is in the reforested sugar cane fields.
According to Louis Ehret who hunted in the wood between 1912

and 1930, the number stakes "have always been there.” They
42

are a testimony to the durability of cypress wood.




Unit Manager Oscar Rodriguez examines rows of cypress stakes with
numbered copper plates, see map of Cultural features of th#é Post-
Plantation Period to World War II. Looking N. 4/86.

X413
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i te, see map of Culiural
stake with numbered copper pla ' c
gZiiii:s of the Post-Plantation Period to World War Il.



| Artifacts at the site of the cabin of a Negro named Wright:

' varts of a cast-iron bedstead, the glass base of an o0il lamp,

| a2 smashel copper cup, part of a cast-iron stove, a broken cast-.
iren pot with legs, and what appear to be lumps of boussiaze,
See site No, 4, Cultural Features of the Post-Plantation Period
ic World Waer II. 3/8€.
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BUILDING SITES AND ASSOCIATED FEATURES OF THE
POST-PLANTATION PERIOD TO WORLD WaR II

Site of the cabin of a Negro named Hennison.

According to Louis Ehret, the Hennison cabin site 1is

located about 1000 feet north of the Ring Levee Parking Lot,

st the edge of the swamp.'" Mr. Ehret remembers that, in

about 1918 or 1920, a Negro hunter and trapper named

Hennison lived at this site in a log slab cabin which he
built for himself.43

A log slab is the outside piece cut from a log in

squaring it. The slab is flat on one side and rounded on

the other, and it often still bears its bark. Slabs could

frequently be obtained at no cost from the refuse of

sawmills. They have long been used to construct walls and

roofs of rustic buildings. The flat side of the slabs are

‘nailed either horizontally or vertically to the wooden

frames of buildings.

in the Barataria regiom, such makeshift dwellings were

ofren called "camps'' even though they served as the

occupant’'s year-round home. . They were perhaps so-called

because of the temporary appearance of the construction, OTr

e inhabitants were frequently squatters.
and he lived

because th
Hennison is said to have been a squatter,

alone. However, He and other apparent squatters may have

y the owners of

and 57

been given permission to 1ive on the land b

the large wooded tract composed of Sections 51, 33,

in T15S R23E, the Rebentsich-Mehnert-Dietze family.
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The location of the cabin, as described by Louis Ehret,
would have been at the toe of the natural levee, in a wet

srea. A search was not made for possible remains of the

cabin site.

2. Site of the cabin of a Negro called '"Dad."

The cabin site is located at the edge of the Ring Levee
Parking Lot, across or near the oil field road which
proceeds from the parking lot in an eastward direction, and
opposite the junction of the Shell Road and the 0ld
Barataria Public Road. According to Louis Ehret, who
visited the area between 1912 and 1930, the cabin of an
elderly Negro called "Dad” was located here. Both Louis
Thret and Frank Ehret, Jr. frequently passed the cabinq;n
the Old Barataria Road, which was then part of State Highway
30, and they remember the Negro as a squatter who lived
alone. They say he was a moss-picker and trapper, and he
"1ived off the land” by hunting and fishing. He also cut
and sold railroad cross-ties, and fence posts and pickets.
He used a voke of oxen to pull from the edge of the swamp
the cypress logs that he cut into cross~ties and fence
posts. The Negro cut the logs in the swamp and floated them
out on "tie runs," or chamnels made by dragging logs through
the swamp. He also used the oxen to pull a wooden slide or
sleigh constructed of eight-foot-long boards which he loaded

with moss that he picked in the swamps and in the 1woc>cls.£‘5
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Louis Ehretvdescribes Dad's cabin as a small shack
constructed of cypress slabs and having a dirt floor. A
metal trash burner served as Dad's cooking stove. The cabin
site may have been overlaid by the shell-over-planks oil
road and, later, by additional shell deposited by the NPS
for the Ring Levee Parking Lot. The site may remain intact
beneath the road and parking lot, or it may have been
disturbed by earth-moving during the oil operations. A few
pieces of brick and a piece of roof slate were observed just
southeast of the parking lot. At a distance of 100 feet to
the southeast of the approximate cabin site is a bulldozed -
pile of mud and refuse about three feet high, a product of
oil exploration work in the area. If the pile consists of
surface scrapings, it may contain artifacts associated with
the Negro's occupation. Several hundred feet northeast of
the approximate cabin site 1is another pile of mud, a linear
elevation about one or two feet high. Surface artifacts
noted on this elevation may derive from the nearby habita-
tion of the Negro. These include brick fragments resembling
+he color and consistency of bricks located on the planta-
tion building sites; thin white ceramic or porcelain sherds;
thick white ceramic sherds; clam and oyster shells; and
large, round, bent nails. These materials resemble those
noted on the site of the Christmas Plantation laborer's
quarters row on the south side of the Shell Road. The Negro

may have scavaged and reused plantation building materials
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_.rticles. It is also possible that the old Negro was a

 ..er hired field hand who worked on the plantation but

.-eé¢ in the woods just outside of the boundary of the
. zntatiom.

aserial photographs dating back to 1945 show a partial
.1earing at the point where the Shell Road meets the 0ld
zzrataria Road. The clearing appears to have been about 300
reet in diameter and may have been made by the Negro as a
work area. In more recent years, the area was used as an
onofficial dump. This trash deposit was largely removed by
rhe NPS, although armadillos sometimes unearth trash that
remains beneath a layer of top soil laid by the NPS on the
north side of the parking lot. Any archaeological investi-
gation in this area should keep in mind that the late

Spanish Period dwelling of Louis Pelteau may have also been

located in this vicinity.

3. Site of the cabin of a Negro cowbov named Dennis.

According to Louis Ehret and Frank Ehret, Jr., the
approximate site of the cabin is located on the crest of the
east bank natural levee, apﬁrcximately 200 feet west of the
Lafitte-Larose Highway and 600 feet northwest of the eastern
boundary of the Christmas Plantation and the 0ld Barataria
Public Road that runs along it. A large ring levee oil
drill site is located on the approximate site of the cabin,
and the site is much disturbed. Occasional scattered pieces

of brick, concrete, and metal in this area may entirely
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_r.ve from the oil operations. Bowever, a careful archae-

- .gical search may locate artifacts or remains associated

_.cn the Negro dwelling and perhaps more precisely locate

.-¢ former site.

According to Louis Ehret and Frank Ehret, Jr., Dennis

<orked for the 1and owners, the Rebentsich-Mehnert-Dietze

family, "running cattle in the Big Woods." The Negro had a

1ittle red horse and some dogs that he used to herd the

cattle. He also cut railroad cross-ties, hunted, fished,

and trapped. He is said to have had "two wives," one with

brown skin and the other with black skin, who lived together _

-

with him in the cabin.”’
The cabin was about 25 or 30 feet long. 1t was

constructed by Dennis of cypress that he cut himself. ~The

roof was covered with metal. Large metal drums situated

under the overhang of the roof collected rain water that

crained from the roof for drinmking water, for household use,

and for the animals.

4. Site of the cabin of a Negro named Wright.

The cabin site is located near the crest of the east

bank natural levee, about 200 feet northwest of the park

boundary at the powerline right-of-way and about 100 feet

northeast of the 0ld Barataria Public Road that bordered the

former Christmas Plantation easterm property line. Accord-

ing to Louis Ehret and Frank Ehret, Jr., this was the site
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-; the cabin occupied by a Negro tie cutter, trapper, and
~css-picker named Wright and his wife. The hand-cut
cypress, metal roofed cabin resemblecd Dennis' cabin,
gescribed above, and it was about the same size.

Artifacts remaining on the surface of the ground at the
cabin site include brick fragments, pieces of an old
cast-iron bedstead, the glass base of an oil lamp, a smashed
copper cup, parts of a cast-iron stove, a broken cast-iron
pot with legs, and what appear to be lumps of boussiage, a
mixture of mud and moss traditionally used in Louisiana for
wall insulation and chimney construction. Nearby are two
small, round ponds ringed by small levees less than a foot
high. These ponds are obviously man-made. They could date
back to the Negro's occupation, or they could be assoezéted
with oil operations of the 1960s. Archaeological investi-

gation may determine if the site of the cabin has been

rh

disturbed by earth-moving during 0il exploration work, or I
the cabin foundations remain intact beneath the ground.

The Wrights are thought to have been squatters.
However, they and all the other Negroes who lived on the
Rebentsich-Mehnert-Dietze property may have dwelled there by
agreement with the owners. They may have helped to watch
the owner's cattle and protect the pfoperty from

interlopers.



The William comez House site. ;

he house site is located on rhe south side of the :

Road, 200 feet northeast of the junctiom of the Shel

e
g .-

. ad and Highway 45.
{p 1912, William Gomez purchased five acres of land
planted in pecan trees on the west bank of the natural levee
of Bayou des Familles, south of the present route of the
chell Road and between the bayou and present-day Highway 45,
from the Jefferson Land Company for $1,000. His acquisition
included the location of one of the houses of the Christmas
plantation, and the house was probably extant at the time of . j

purchase. (See No. le on map of the Christmas Plantation

Headquarters area.)50 -

Soon after acquiring the property, William Gomez and
his wife, Mary Eskine Gomez, are known to have been living
:n the house that faced rhe Shell Road. They resided in the
house until they sold the property to Robert Logan Perkins
in 1920 for $800.00. It is not known how long the planta-
rion house that was 1ocated farther downstream remained
standing. 1t may be speculated that the Gomez House was the
plantation house, moved to the new site and perhaps somewhat
remodeled. Stylistically, the house could have dated from
the establishment of the Christmas Plantation in 1866. Oral
tradition has long jdentified the Gomez House as the
“"Christmas Plantation Overseer's House," even though no
house wasllocated on the site of the Gomez House during the

late plantation period.



The William Gomez House. Above: sketch showing appearance of
house shortly before being destroyed by fire in 1983, drawn from
vhotographs made by Talluto Real Estate Appraiser, filed with
Tract No. 104-18, Land Acquisition Office, National Park Service
Southwest Regional Office, Santa Fe. Below: conjectured restor-
ation as a galleried, villa-style, center-hall cottage with
detached kitchen on the Christmas Plantation before removal to

a new site by Gomez in 1912.
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photographs made in 1983 show that the Gomez House was

. smatl villa style. cottage, an sAmerican modification of the
The villa or cernter-hall house Was

~recle cottage type.

pcpular in Louisiana in the mid-19th century. Such

ings were a manifestation of the Greek Revival Style

cwell
e Eastern United States. Many

wrought to Louisiana from th

pretentious raised villas were erected as plantation houses.

However, modest coOttages in urban and rural areas also

incorporated the center hall and the symmetrical facade of

Such cottages combined Louisiana

the fashionable style.
al and American building traditioms.

Stylistically, the Gomez House would have appeared more

appropriate if raised a half-story on brick piers. What

n be seen in the

coloni

cseems to be the remains of brick piers ca

ground at the former location of the plantation house.

Gomez possibly removed the plantation house from its piers,

moved it to a new location, andé placed it on the ground.

As it appeared in 1983, the frame house was rectangular

in plan and had small wings at the side and rear. The
gabled roof, which had a slight double pitch characteristic

of eighteenth and nineteenth century buildings in south

Louisiana, was covered with corrugated metal. A gallery was

e front facade which contained s
1 door flanked by a

inset across th ymmetrical

fenestration consisting of a centra

window and a door on each side. 1In the Greek Revival Style
d side lights,

tradition, the central door had a transom an
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;nd it apparently opened to a central hall. Photographs of
-he house are not clear encugh to distinguish the type of
~culdings around the door and windows. The windows were
sitred with double-hung sash. A brick chimney was locatecd
near the northeast gabled end.

Robert Logan Perkins, who purchased the property upon
which the house is situated, was the son of Robert J.
Perkins who acquired most of the rest of the former
Christmas Plantation as well as other Barataria properties.
The elder Perkins held these properties until the 1930s but
did not live in Barataria. He was a prominent New Orleans
attorney. To guard the former Christmas Plantation
property, Perkins employed a watchwoman, a Miss Harris, who
1ived in the former Gomez House. Miss Harris carried a ;Ln,
punctured the tires of trespassers' vehicles with an ice
pick, and put sugar in their gas tanks.53

The house burned in 1983, and the NPS subsequently
removed most of the debris of the house. The base of the
brick chimnéy, concrete biock foundation, and concrete
flooring remain, along with a scattering of bricks, mails,
and other building materials. The only early building
materials noted in the area are some of the "H" imprinted
bricks that are found on Christmas Plantation building

: 4
51tes.5
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cite of a Christmas Plantation house.

The site is located at the northeast corner of the
.~-ersection of the Shell Road and Highway. It is fully
:czcribed in No. 1b of “"Stryructures on the Christmas Planta-
~:i~n." The house undoubtedly remained standing for some
vears after the end of the plantation period. A cottage at
r=is site, which probably resembled the Gomez House, was
cemolished in 1953, It was probably the same cottage that
scocd on the site during the plantation years.55
The land in the area north of the Shell Road was not
among the parcels that were ever sold, and it 1s therefore
unlikely that a substantial new cottage was built there in
the éost-plantation period. The cottage was occupied in
those years by a Negro family, and other Negro families
lived in nearby cabins. Frank Ehret, Jr. remembers that the
Mi=chells and the Dorseys lived in these dwellings in the

“ann . 56
1823s. They were moss pickers.

7. Site of a row of cabins.

The site of the row of cabins is located on the west
bank of Bayou des Familles, northwest of the crossing of the
Shell Road and about 100 feet from the bayou. According to
Louis Ehret and Frank Ehret, Jr., a row of several cabins
located here were occupied by Negro moss pickers in the
post-plantation period. These buildings may have been the
plantation laborers' quarters originally located on the

opposite side of the bayou. The buildings and the site are
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sully described in No. 3 of "Structures on the Christmas

Plantation."57

8. Possible house site.

The site is located at the corner of the intersection
of the eastern Christmas Plantation property'line and
Highway 45. It is situated about 100 feet from the highway.
A road or driveway leads from the highway to the site. The
location was used as an unofficial dump in recent years, and
most of the trash was removed by the NPS. Some debris is
still scattered about the area.

Neither documentation nor oral tradition locates a
building on this site, however, several features suggest
that a house may have been located here. 0ld bricksﬁg
embedded in the ground have the appearance of a foundation
or walkway. Several exotic plants growing on the site
suggest the remains of an ornamental garden: two large
clusters of bamboo, & Japanese plum, and asparagus fern. It
is possible, however, that these plants were dumped on the
site and took root. Four large live oaks grow somewhat
symmetrically on the site.

An oil pipeline passes near the site and is identi-
fiable by a linear depression in the ground. A cathodic
protection check point instrument protrudes from the
pipeline near the possible house site. The road that leads
to the site could have been made in 1968 when the pipeline

was laid, and the road probably prompted use of the area as




Sketch of pecan orchard, truck garden fields, and buildings in study area in 1945. Buildings:
facing south side of shell Road, Gomez House;’northwest corner of junction of Shell Road and
highway, possible plantation périod cottage; north side of Shell Road near bayou, possible

plantation quarters building; other structures unidentified. Scale: 1.25 inch = 1,000 feet.
From aerial photograph flown 5-17-45 by the National Ocean Survey, C & GS, 20, La. 1250, 29,

90, C2790, National Archives.
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STRUCTURES DATING FROM WORLD WAR || TO 1982

1. CARETAKER'S HOUSE, OLD GOMEZ HOUSE, POSSIBLE CHRISTMAS PLANTATION HOUSE.

2. GARAGE AND SHED.
3, CDTTAGE, POSSIBLE CHR!STMAS PLANTATION HOUSE.
4. POSSIBLE CHRISTMAS PLANTATION QUARTERS BUtLDING.

(OTHER STRUCTURES ON WEST BANK, AS SHOWN ON VARIOUS AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS AND MAPS
FROM 1945 TO 1985, ARE UNIDENTIFIED.)

5. SAWMILL.

6. SAWMILL OPERATOR'S HOUSE.
POSSIBLE HOUSE.

MULE CORRAL.

g. MARRERO ROD AND GUN CLUB CABIN.

. 10. HOUSE TRAILER.

11. "CUN CLUB LOT."
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a dump. Archaeological testing would be needed to determine

.o~
- -

1f a house site is located at this place and, if so, the

period of its construction.

CULTURAL FEATURES POST-DATING WORLD WAR II

As described earlier in the chapter entitled "The

Patchwork of Hardwood Succession in the Study Area," most of

the former Christmas Plantation had reforested by the time
of World War II. Aerial photographs of 1945 show that only
about 25 acres remained in cultivared truck gardens and
pecan orchards. The photographs show the rest of the study
as densely forested, with faint linear traces of logging
operations as the only sign of human activity in the woods,
However, the forests also continued to be used for grazing
livestock, hunting, trapping, and the gathering of Spanish
mOSS .

The 1945 aerial ph otographs show six buildings
clustered at the intersection of the Shell Road and Highway
L5 (then Highway 30), between the highway and the bayou.
Several of these buildings have been described earlier in
this study as two cottages and a quarters building probably
remaining from the Christmas Plantation. The other
structures have not been identified, and later aerial
photographs show other unidentified structures which may
have been sheds, barns, garages, or house trailers.

The old Gomez House was still being used as the house

of the caretaker employed by the Canal Bank and Trust
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. -~mpany, owner of the former Christmas lands. Jake

~repagnier was the caretaker in the years foliowing Worid

ar 11. He cultivated vegetables in portions of the pecan
crchard, which helped to maintain those parts of the
orchard. His farm plots were largely located to the
northwest of the Shell Road and Third Road and across the
highway where the Visitor Center is located today. He
planted potatoes, beans, cabbage, beets, turnips, green
onions, corm, lettuce, carrots, blackeye peas, and peppers.
Deer from the surrounding woods would frequently raid the
gardens. Trepagnier sold the vegetables and pecans at the
French Market in New Orleans. After the crops were
. harvested, cattle were put on the land to help keep the
orchards clear.58 -
Jake Trepagnier also collected fees from moss pickers
who paid to gather truckloads of Spanish moss from trees on

i the property and from hunters who wished to hunt on the

propertvy. Trepagnier is said to have killed the last black

bear known to have lived in the Barataria Region when it

entered the gallery of his house in the late 1960s. The

wounded bear ran into Bayou des Familles downstream from the
4.9

bridge crossing, died there, and was never recovere
The cottage that stood across the road from the

caretaker's house was destroyed about 1953. In the late

1970s, the caretaker's cottage was abandoned and stood

. vacant for some time. According to Mrs. Mary Dauenhauer

|
|
Erlinger who owned the property, the house was then occupied
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by squatters. Two couples and at least one child livec in |
he house. As many as 100 rabbits, which they raised,
nopped about the premises. They cooked the rabbits on an
iron rack in the fireplace of the house. They kept a boat
in front of the house and probably used it to fish in the
nearby lakes. A big goose attacked all strangers who
ventured onto the property.60

‘At the rear of the house, the squatters farmed a small
plot which they enclosed with a tall fence of sheet metal
supported by wooden posts and cast-iron pipes. The metal
enclosure kept wild animals and the rabbits from raiding the _
garden. The furrows of this former garden plot are visible
on the ground. Between the farm plot and the highway was an
old wood and metal tool shed and another, smaller metal
enclosure which served as a pig pen.61

The house was destroyed by fire on Halloween night,

1983, soon after the squatters had been evicted by the
Sheriff of Jefferson Parish. The brick chimmey remained
standing. 1t was knockéd down by the NPS, and the debris
was cleared from the property. The brick base of the |
chimney, concrete block foundation, and concrete flooring |

remain on the house site.62 j

Aerial photographs of the 1960s show several buildings
located at the southwest corner of the Shell Road and the
location of Fourth Road, near the bayou. These structures

were not situated on subdivision lots that had ever been |
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cold. They were associated with a sawmill operation which

ct to the owner of the sub-

.yision, Canal Assets, Incorporated, a company formed in

ét
liquication of the Canal Bank and Trust Company.

According to A. J. Smith who used to live in the

garataria area, the building at the corner of the Shell Road

and Fourth Road was a cawmill operated by & gasoline engine.

1t faced the Shell Road, and the sawmill operator's house

was situated on the bayou side of the mill. It also faced

the Shell Road. A third structure was 1ocated about 200

t of these buildings. Debris in this -

gests that this building

feet to the southeas

area, including children's toys, sSug

Aerial photographs appear to show that it

e early 1970s. The other two

was a dwelling.

had been demolished by th

1dings remained standing until more recent years. Their

buil
and wooden beam foundations srill exist, along with

scattered refuse dating fyom their occupation. The NPS

ly cleared most of the trash from this area.

s of the 1970s show that the last area

recent

Aerial photograph

of the pecan orcharc to be kept open by cultivation under

the trees was a small plot at the northwest corner of the

Shell Road and the bayou. The sawmill operator may have

farmed this patch. 1In the pecan orchard, near the Shell

Road and across the road from the sawmill, was a mule

corral. Some of the large corral posts remain standing.

According to A. J. Smith, the sawmill operator used the
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mules to help haul timber out of the woods, but he also kept
them "just because he liked t:hem.”ééL

Two blocks up the Shell Road, other structures were
erected in the 1970s by a hunting club. The "Gun Club Lot"
£aced the north side the Shell Road between First and Second
Roads and occupied the whole of Block or Square 29 of the
subdivision. The Marrerc Rod and Gun Club, Incorperated,
purchased the eastern half of the square in 1973. The
western half of the square was purchased in the same year by
Slattery P. Henry of Marrero and was apparently also used by
the gun club.65

The improvements on Henry's portion of the square,
consisted of an old, deteriorated house trailer and a small
shed. Those on the gun club's half of the square consisted
of a 32 by 24 foot frame cabin, an 8 by 12 foot frame shed
with a dirt floor, and a galvanized iron privy.66

The cabin was raised on concrete blocks and had a
corrugated metal roof with gabled ends. The exterior walls
were covered with horizontal boards. The interlor was
divided into two rooms, a bedroom and a kitchen. The floors
were made of plywood laid onm jcists.67

The only utility service available to the people who
lived along the Shell Road was electricity. 1In 1970,
Louisiana Power and Light Company installed an electricity
iine on wooden poles along the south side of the Shell Road
and along the 0ld Barataria Road bordering Squares 30 and

31,58
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Water was.carried in and colleéted in cisterns. On the
~.n club lot, water for washing dishes and cleaning game,
-,z not for drinking, was collected in two 55-gallon iron
irums which were elevated on a platform under the eaves ol
-he roof. Rain water runoff from the roof collected in the
drums which were covered with screens to keep out insects
and debris.69

The NPS removed all the structures from the Gun Club
Lot. The gun club property was partially cutover and is in
the process of regrowth. During the years that the NPS was
in process of acquiring the lands that were to constitute
the park unit, the gun club members were able to hunt on the
new public lands. Spent bullet shells are plentiful in the
area. -

Recent cultural features that border the study area and
the park boundaries should be mentioned. A 120-foot
electric powerline right-of-way borders the south end of the
study area and forms the boundary of the park in this
location. The right-of-way was granted in 1965 by Canal
Assets, Incorporated to Louisiana Power and Light Compeny.
It follows the property line first established in 1794 as
the division between the Spanish land grants of Louis
Pelteau and John Normand. It lies just inside the former
Pelteau property and is cleared of trees.70

The Lafitte-Larose Highway (State Highway 3134) borders

the east side of the study area and also forms the boundary

of the park. It is a four-lane asphalt highway. The
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right-of-way in this location was purchased by the State in
974, A public water line runs along the west side of the
highway, just inside the park property.71

The northeast side of the study area is bordered by a
levee and a canal. The park boundary line lies on the south
side of the levee. The boundary line, levee and canal
follow another 1794 property line, a Spanish land grant to
Antonio Vart. The canal was dug as a pipeline canal for oil
exploration work in the 1960s. The 50-foot-wide levee that
was built along the south side of the canal is called the
Lower Estelle Protection Levee and the Hurricane Protection _
Levee. It has also been called the V-Shaped Levee because

it follows the v-shape of the 1794 property Iine.72
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. ; ENDNOTES
; THE PAPER SUBDIVISION
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CHAPTER X

THE CROWN POINT OIL FIELD
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‘ 0il was discovered in Louisiana in 1901, but it was not
ncil 1935 that the first oil well in Jefferson Parish ''came

in," The well was drilled by the Texas Company (later

renamed Texaco, Incorporated) in the Barataria marshes near

f sayou Dupont. At 9572 feet, it was the deepest well yet
; drilled in the nation, and it produced 1000 barrels a day.
; Named Lafitte No. 1, this was the discovery well of the
; Lafitte 0il Field which, by 1943, had 61 producing wells and
} had attained a total production of 3,634,000 barrels. 1In _
; 1935, the Texas Company began construction of oil and gas
. l pipelines to their terminal or tank farm 26 miles nortEvard
on the Mississippi River at Marrero. From this terminal,
crude oil could be loaded onto ships and railrocad tank cars. |
The Texas Company pipeline right-of-way passes through the i
study area and is described in detail in the previous
chapter.l

The Texas Company had acquired drilling rights in a

crew had been exploring for oil with seismographic equipment
since 1928. In 1933, the crew located the hard sub-surface

upheaval or anti-cline of a salt dome. Salt domes are often
found within a hundred miles of the Gulf of Mexico in south

Louisiana. The domes are hollow and trap pools of oil.

I

large area in Barataria in 1927, and a company geophysical
|

. Hydrocarbons, or crude oil and natural gas, are formed from |

i
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.umulations of organic matter in ancient seas and as a

re
-nrough countless millennia. Being lighter than water,
setroleun and gas seep upwards through layers of sediment
and porous rock until they are trapped by impermeable
strata. O1il and gas in the salt dome formations are mixed
:n layers of sand, limestone, shale, and saltwater.

By 1955, nearly 200 million barrels of oil had been
produced by the Lafitte Field. Meanwhile, other oil fields
were opened nearby. In 1939, the California Company
established the Barataria Field on Bayou Barataria near the
community of Barataria. By 1943, this field had 21 wells
that had produced 1,123,000 barrels of oil. 1In 1940, twg
more fields were "brought in," Delta Farms and Lake
Salvador. In 1941, oil was discovered at Bay de Chene and
at Westwego. Other oil fields developed during the 1940s
and 1950s were Bayou de Fleur, Bayou Perot, Manila Village,
and Little Lake. Pipelines emanating from most of these
fields were joined with the Texas Company oil and gas
pipelines that pass through the study area.2

In 1947, Humble 0il and Refining Company began the
first offshore drilliné operation in Jefferson Parish with
the platform rig named Grand Isle No. 1, located in 50 feet
of water seven miles out from Grand Isle. Within a few
years, Humble had drilled 35 offshore wells nearby.

The 0il and gas industry brought progress and

prosperity to Jefferson Parish as well as to the whole

cult of geological forces to which the matter is subjected
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metropolitan New Orleans area. Bundreds of oil-and-gas-

£ollowed the oil companies ¢

cerns established themselves along

o Jefferson

related businesses

parish. Many of these con

rhe banks of the Harvey Canal, which by the early twentieth
century had become the principal water route to Barataria.
The oil industry also brought modern development and many

changes to the rustic fishing and farming communities of

By 1959, Jefferson Parish had 20 inland oil

ells producing 27,304 barrels a day.

Barataria.

fields with 292 w

Monthly production averaged about two and a half million

dollars worth of crude oil. Inm addition, the oil fields -

produced about 46,800 million cubic feet of natural gas a

)

day.
overed within the boundaries

0il and gas were not disc

of the present Barataria Unit of the Jean lafitte National

Historical Park until about 1960. At that time, the Crown

Point 0il Field was opened. It lies partially within the

park and the study area. The name of the oil field was

taken from the nearby community of Crown Point which is

1ocated on the point of land west of the confluence of

Bayous des Familles and Barataria that was crossed by the

lower property line of.the original 20-arpent tract obtained
slander

by the King of Spain to establish the Canary I

settlement in 1779 (see Chapter III, "lLa Poblacidn de

Barataria").3

As noted in the preceding chapter, Robert J. Perkins,

whose holdings jpcluded the study area, signed an oil
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-.oration lease with the Kelly Land Company of Houston,

in 1928. 1t is possible that some seismic explora-

~ax 35,

.:-n took place in the study area at that early date. The
.arlier methods used by exploration CIews of geologists,

ceophysicists, and engineers consisted of exploding dynamite

wyried in shallow holes dug for the purpose, and recording

| on a seismograph the sound waves of the vibratiens produced
within the earth by the explosion. By performing a number
of these tests over a large area, the geophysicist was able
ro determine the shape, location, and depth of subsurface
stratum. The testing method more recently used on accessi-
. ble terrain invelves the use of a vibrator mounted under a
. rruck. This device sends out low-frequency sound waves as
+he vibrator is pressed against the ground. The sonic
reflections produced are picked up by sensitive instruments

1 called geophones, and another instrument records the

reflections.

1

Early oil exploration crews frequently left open the
holes made Sy their dynamite explosions. Some of the
aumerous holes, which are usually water-£filled, that are
located in the study area coﬁld have been caused by this
method of oil exploration. Disturbance to the landscape
caused by the use of the rruck-mounted vibrator consists of
clearing passages for the truck. Some partially cleared

. places in the study area that first appear in aerial

photographs of the 1960s and 1970s may have been made for
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ourpose of seismic exploration with a truck-mounted
_.-rator.

The earliest specific record of the search for oil in
~e study area portion of what was to become the Crown Point
~i1 Field is a mineral lease made in 1956 for Square 29 of
-we Jefferson Land Company, or Christmas, Subdivision. this
square became known more recently as the '"Gun Club Lot,"” and
it is described in the preceding chapter. 1In 1956, Edna
Seymour, wife of Peter Walsh, leased the square to the
Anderson-Pritchard 0il Company. Seismic tests may have been
done on the square, but aerial photographs show no distur-
bances or clearings made in the study area until the 19605.6

In 1960, Ferdinand H. Dietze and his sister, Charlotte
Amy Dietze De Limon, who were owners of Sections 51, ;3, and
57 in T15S R23E, leased this large tract to the Pan American
Petroleum Corporation of Texas. In 1961 and 1962, the same
0il company also leased most of the squares in the Christmas
Subdivision that had been purchased by various individuals.7

After two years of seismic exploration, the Pan
American Petroleum Corporation, together with the Westland
0il Development Corporation, also of Texas, drilled a
"wildcat" well on the-Dietze property. A wildcat is an
exploration or test well drilled in unproved territory where
no oil or gas production exists. The first Dietze wildcat

was located at the end of the park's "Ring Levee Trail." It

may have been the discovery well of the Dietze field, but
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_.:al photographs show that by the mid-1960s it was
-dngHEd and overgrown with vegetation. The well which
i-st reveals thé presence of a petroleum-bearing reservoir
.« called a "discovery well.” One of two other wells
-.cated on the western side of the Ring Levee Trail may also
.ave been the discovery well which records show was drilled
in 1962 and was named the Westland No. 1 F. H. Dietze Well.
~he two other drill holes are shown on the ""Bertrandville,
La." quadrangle map of 1966 which was drafted from aerial
shotographs made in 1964.

After a discovery or exploration well determines the
presence of hydrocarbons, it is usually necessary to drill
several development wells to efficiently produce oil and gas
from a subsurface formation. Development wells are Ebread
out over an o0il field in order to complete a pattern of
production that would most fully exploit the reservoir of
hydrocarbons. Such wells are also called exploitation
wells, and several of these were drilled in the portion of
the Crown Point 0il Field that lies within the study area.
Aerial photographs show that most of these wells had been
drilled by the mid-1960s. Production wells appear to have
been located on the Dietze property, while two disturbed
areas on the Christmas Subdivision property appear to

represent unproductive drill sites. In 1964 and 1965, the

squares. In 1971 and 1972, Pelto 0il Company was granted

I
|
Southern Crude 0il Company leased some of the subdivision
mineral rights to all the unsold subdivision squares by
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.~gown Lands, Incorporated. However, 0il exploration

.ivity on the Christmas Subdivision property was limited,

In 1964, T. Harry Kaplan obtained a mineral lease for

-we Dietze property. The development wells were drilled

.nder this lease and under a lease to the Estate of

:1liam G. Hellis, A Partnership, and the Sea Drilling

Corporation. 1In 1968, a pipeline right-of-way was granted

on the Dietze property and over a small corner of the

Christmas property to the two 1ast-named oil companies. The _

right-of-way runs in a northwest-southeast direction through

the center of the study area, and it parallels the northern

boundary line of the park at the Protection Levee. It is 20
feet wide and contains a buried two-and-one-half-inch pipe

izid "for the transportation of gas, gas condensate and

from a well in the center of the

oil field to a trunk pipeline west of Highway 45,10

other liquid hydrocarbons”

In 1970 and 1971, J. A. Seglund, Incorporated and P. J.
Klentos acquired mineral leases to the Dietze property.

sterial photographs show that drilling operations ceased in

the study area during the mid-1970s. Rigs, equipment,

buildings, and most reusable materials, including some road

beds, were removed from the field. Some drill sites were

partially bulldozed and leveled, and most refuse was

removed, buried, or burned. However, many ground features
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and artifacts remain from the oil activities in the study
area.11

The following'descriptions of cultural features
associated with oil operations in the study area are based
largely upon the explanations of Petroleum Engineer Gerald
L. Schroeder, Jr., Principal Engineer of Boeing Petroleum
Services, Incorporated of Metairie, who volunteered ta tour
the study area and provide information for this study.12

0il field road beds are a pronounced feature of oil
operations in the study area. 0il companies frequently use
existing roads in exploration and production work. Aerial
photographs show that a new layer of shell was laid on the
Shell Road that served as the Christmas Plantation Head-
quarters Road, as the Jefferson Land Company Subdivision
"0ld Road,” and as a connecting link in State Highway 30.
The road is described in detail in earlier chapters. A new
wooden bridge was erected at the Bayou des Familles crossing
of the road, prcbably in the early 1960s. Aerial photo-
graphs also show that trees bordering the road were trimmed
of their overhanging branches so that oil equipment could
pass on the road. Some trees adjacent to the road may have
been felled at this time.

The subdivision Third Road was partially trimmed to
open it for the use of oil exploration vehicles. That part

of the 01d Barataria Public Road which runs south of its

juncture with the Shell Road was cleared of trees for a
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..» of about 50 feet to provide access to a drill site at

o
-

¢ south end of the study area. This road passes through
. weral wet sloughs. It has not been determined if the road
;s used in this condition or if a bed of shells and boards
.ss taid upon it and later removed. Both this road and
-nird Road have begun to grow Over again with saplings and
srush.

goard-and-shell road construction can be seen in the
Ring Levee Trail parking lot. Frequently, shells are not
used, but boards are laid lengthwise on mud roads. In
wetlands, oil field roads are constructed by laying a
1attice work of boards covered with river sand and shells.
Sometimes borrow pits are excavated nearby for reoad fill,
and many of the small holes near the drill site areas may
have been dug for this purpose. The two drill site roads
that depart in a "V" shape from the Ring Levee Parking Lot
were constructed in these ways. )

0il exploration roads are temporary roads, laid down
with the idéa that they can be taken up. Road beds are not
removed if the well produces but are maintained to provide
sccess to the well. Sometimes roads are left even if the
wells are dry. As roads in wetland areas compact and
subside, they begin to sink below water levels. Much of the
road that is followed by the Ring Levee Trall seems to have
been removed, apparently because the well was dry. The

other road led to a producing well, therefore this road was

retained.
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Five or six drill sites have been identified on the
~.p-ze property, and their ground features survive in
.,rious conditions. In the preparation of a drill site, the
sirst job of the drilling contractor is to clear and level
-he site and to build one or more access roads and a
-urnaround. In wetland areas, the drill site is frequently
npucked out." The first five or ten feet of moist, organic
soil is removed and river sand is hauled in to serve as a
ned for the drill pad. Sometimes, the drill pad, which
nmeasures about 200 feet square, is constructed of a lattice
work of boards laid in the marsh or swamp and covered with
river sand and shell. The pads are raised three or four
feet as a precaution against floods. Levees are built to
ring a wide area around the drill pad and contain any‘;pill
from the well.

Adjacent to the drill pad, the drilling contractor
excavates and levees a large pit, called a reserve pit, to
be used for disposal of drilling mud and other wastes.
Today, these pits are lined with plastic to prevent pollu-
tion of the soil. Other pits are also excavated. One is
used to deposit the small shale and rock cuttings brought up
from the bottom of the drill hole. Another pit is used to
prepare the mixture of clay, water, and chemicals called
drilling mud that is circulated through the wellbore to cool
the cutting bit and drill stem. A water well drilled on the

site provides drilling fluid and also drinking and washing

water for the work crew.
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The drill hole is begun by digging a rectangular pit
-ailed @ vcellar" and a shallow hole lined with conductor
~ipe in the middle of the cellar. The drilling rig is moved

.4 and placed over the hole. Derrick rigs must be assembled

on the site. The mast, or portable derrick, can be raised
over the site as a unit.

Auxiliary structures and equipment are placed on the
drill site, including mud pumps to circulate the drilling
fluid, diesel engines for power, electric generators,
storage racks and bins, and quarters for the drilling crew.
If the well produces, storage tanks are needed for the
hydrocarbons. When production is limited, trucks collect

‘ the stored hydrocarbons and transport them from the fiild.
When production is great, buried pipelines called flow lines
are connected to distant tank farms. In the oil field, flow
lines are laid on low rails near the surface of the ground.

Before being piped into storage tanks, the oil, gas,
and water that emerge from the well are processed in
separators which sit on concrete pads. Salt water, Or
brine, is deposited in pits-in order that it might
evaporate.

After the drilling rig of a producing well is removed,
the remaining wellhead, with numerous control valves,
pressure gauges, and chokes, is called a "Christmas tree."

‘ Most of the drilling pad is usually removed. A portion of

the pad surrounding the Christmas tree, measuring about 40
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ceet by 20 feét, is retained, as is the road to the
.ellhead.

If the hole that is drilled is dry, or if the well
_eases TO produce, it is plugged with cement. Attempts are
nade, more or less thoroughly, to clear and level the drill
site and to remove or bury wastes. Drill sites in the study
area were not well-cleared and leveled, and they exhibit
many features and much refuse of the oil operations.

As the forest closes over the drill sites, it is
difficult to imagine the heavy equipment, towering derricks,
huge metal tanks, and bustling activity that were once part
of these locations. As described in the first chapter of
this study, reforestation of the drill sites is taking place
in ways that are dissimilar to the surrounding forest
because the sites are man-altered. The drill sites listed

below are shown on maps drafted for this study.

(-

This apparent drill site is located near Bayou des
Familles, 2450 feet northwest of the Shell Road. It
consists of a clearing in the pecan orchard with some
sapling growth. The clearing is edged by small levees
and is approached by a 30-foot-wide access road which
leads from Third Road. Brick fill is located in Third
Road at the turn-off point of the access road. Aerial
photographs show that the clearing, measuring about 50
feet wide by about 200 feet long, was made in the late

1960s. This was apparently not an oil production site.
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This large drill site which has been mostly leveled is
located at the southeast corner of the intersection of
the Shell Road and the 0ld Barataria Public Road. The
site appears to cover an area measuring about 400 Zfeet
square. Aerial photographs show that the first
clearing in this area was made in the late 1960s, 330
feet from the intersection, along the 50-foot-wide
right-of-way of the subdivision First Street for about
400 feet into a 200-foot-wide clearing. During the
early 1970s, some of the forest between this clearing
and the road juncture was partially cut-over and

bulldozed. There is in this area a bulldozed earth

‘mound about five feet high with felled tree limbs in

and around it. Metal debris and chunks of baked
drilling mud are scattered on the ground. When
subjected to intense heat, the bentonite clay used as
drilling mud becomes hard-baked as brick. Some
five-gallon cans lying on the ground retain parts of
their labels that read "Baroid Division, National Lead
Company, Houston, For all water base . . . increasing
drilling rate . . . improves bit performance .
improves pumpability . . . reduces hole friction .
reduces formation of solids. . . ." Numerous saplings

grow in the area.

A drill site may have been located at the Ring Levee

Trail parking lot. Aerial photographs show that an




at this location by the mid-1960s. At 125 feet

southeast of the parking lot is an L-shaped mound of

earth about two feet high that appears to have been
bulldozed into this position. Scattered in and around
the mound are chunks of baked drilling mud, charred
wood, clam and oyster shells, and a few pieces of metal
and glass. About 50 feet to the north, northeast, and
northwest of the parking lot is another linear rise in
the ground about one or two feet high. These linear
elevations may be the remains of a small ring levee.
Scattered on the linear feature at the north wide of -
the parking lot are brick fragments; white ceramic and
. porcelain sherds; clam and oyster shells; and large,
round, bent nails. As noted in previocus chapters,
cultural materials in this area may derive from an
early twentieth century Negro gquatter's cabin and from
the dwelling of Spanish land grantee Louis Pelteau.
Alsc at this location is part of a rotting drzglirne
skid cc;nstructed of squared timbers bound together with
metal cables and tie-rods. Draglines, or excavating
machines, are used to build drill pads and roads by
scooping up soil from nearby borrow pits. Skids are
used to help support the heavy weight of the dragline.
Holes in the nearby swamp could be borrow pits,
although they could alsoc be tree-falls. When a tree

. falls, it uproots much soil with its roots and leaves a



32+,

hole in the ground which frequently remains long after
the tree has rotted away. A small, round, leveed pit
at the beginning of the Ring Levee Trail, on the west
side of the trail, may be a test pit used to sample and

burn off flow while a well was being drilled.

The first drill site on the Ring Levee Trail is located
313 feet from the beginning of the trail. At this
point, ring levees are located on both sides of the
trail. On the left (western) side of the trail, the
ring levee surrounds a drill pad that measures about
150 feet long by 75 feet wide and is elevated about
five feet above the encircling water-filled pit. The
drill pad is composed of earth and shells, and if is
overgrown with young trees, saplings, and brush. The
water in the pit is black, and the oily scum that
£floats on the surface indicates that the pit was used
to test flow from the well, or that sediment from the
bottom of a storage tank was dumped in the pit. After
the drilling of the well and the removal of the
drilling rig, one or more oil storage tanks would have
been erected on.the drill pad. The sediment that
accumulates in the bottom of crude 0il tanks is called
"BS&W," or basic sediment and water. The sediment
consists of black, asphaltic residue, and it is

necessary to periodically clean tanks of BS&W.
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Near the western side of the Ring Levee Trail, at
480 feet from the beginning of the trail, it is a
four-foot-square concrete slab bearing a circular rust
stain made by the base of a tank called a "separator.”
These are slender, vertical tanks containing mechanisms
that separate the o0il, gas, mud, and water that come
from the well. Trash from the o0il operations is strewn
about the site. The U.S.G.S. "Bertandville, La."
quadrangle map of 1966, photorevised in 1972 and 1979,
shows that the drill hole is located about 400 feet

from the beginning of the trail.

. 5. Continuing along the Ring Levee Trail, a series aof ring
levees can be seen on the left, or western, side of the
trail. These were associated with the next drill hole
which the quadrangle map shows to be located about 900
feet from the beginning of the trail. The ring levees
of this site stretch for more than 500 feet, and the
first of these is encountered at 600 feet from the
beginning of the trail. At 630 feet is another
concrete slab measuring about seven-and-a-half feet
square. The groﬁnd is covered with shell. A storage
tank was probably located here. Westward of the ring
levee is a circular, water-filled pit having a diameter

‘ ' of about 75 feet and ringed with a little levee. This

could have been a brine evaporation pit.
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At 700 feet is a pond measuring about 200 feet wide

and enclosed by a high ring levee. Rusted flow line

pipes remain on this drill site. Aerial photographs

show a linear clearing extending westward through the

swamp for about 1000 feet beyond this drilling site.

The photographs suggest that another drill hole may

have been located at the end of the clearing. The

remains of yet another ring levee are located at 1000

feet from the beginning of the trail.

6. Continuing along the Ring Levee Trail to the last drill _

site, the trail crosses at 1450 feet the pipeline laid

. in 1968 by the Estate of William G. Hellis and the Sea
Drilling Corporation to transport hydrocarbons from a
well located to the southeast to a trunk pipeline on

the west side of Highway 45. Here, the pipeline and

the Ring Levee Trail are deep in cypress Swamp. Trees

were felled in the 20-foot-wide pipeline right-of-way,

giving it the appearance of a stream passing through

the swamp. At the left side of the trail is a cathodic

protection electrical conduit, about two-and-one-half

feet high. A siight electrical current which ran

through the small galvanized-iron pipe attached to a

wooden board helped to control corrosion of the

' pipeline.
' Aerial photographs show that the drill site at the

end of the trail was abandoned soon after it was
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drilled iﬁ 1962. The park boardwalk trail circles the
ring levee for a distance of more than 1000 feet. Some
of the leveé, drill pad, and rcad were probably taken
up; the remaining raised areas are sinking beneath the
water of the cypress swamp. However, the slightly
elevated levees and drill pad support young red maples
and tupelo gum. The drill pad is located in the center
of the rink levee. Another levee divides a part of the
ring levee to form a separate area which may have been
used as the reserve pit for the disposal of drilling

mud and other wastes.

"Aerial photographs show that this drill site and the

access road to it from the Shell Road were comstructed
in 1966. The well was so productive that a pipeline
was laid in 1968 by the Hellis and Sea Drilling oil
companies to carry the flow to a main trunk line. The
center of the shell-covered drill pad is used as park
maintenance area. The rest of the drill pad is
overgrown with young trees. Several pits contain brine
and hydrocarbon wastes. Spilled brine and other wastes
have killed trees in an area north of the drill pad.
Metal and wood debris from the oil operations remain on
the site. In the early 1970s, a road was constructed
from this drill site to another drill site 3500 feet to

the northeast, outside of the park.
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Aerial photographs show that this large drill site was
constructed in 1966 and was abandoned and overgrown by
the late 1960s. The ring levee of the site measures
about 500 feet square. The levees have been partially
broken down, but the remaining segments are nearly
three feet high. A linear elevation, rising three or
four feet in height, runs in a diagonal direction

through the western part of the ring levee. This

man-made linear elevation, which may have been part of

the drill pad, is situated upon a natural ridge
elevation which was followed by one of the courses of
the Chemin de Barataria, or the Camino Real de
Barataria.

Debris scattered about the site includes chufks of
baked drilling mud, charred wood, pieces of concrete
and metal, parts of a Bakelite toothed pump drive gear,
and glass oil sample jars. Lettering on the jars
identifies the drilling contractor as Schlumberger Well
Services of New Orleans.

The ring levee is situated on the natural levee of
the old river where the land is dry. The interior of
the ring levee was Put in cultivation soon after it was
abandoned by thé oil companies. The furrows and

ditches and the ring levee are now growing over with

saplings and young trees.



Infra-red oblique alr view of crossroads aL end of the Shell Road, looking
SE. White trees are live oaks. 2/23/86, A: Probable oil drill site No. 3.

By 0il drill site No, 6 access road, The Ring Levee Trail. C: 0il drill site
No. 7 access road., Di 01d Barataria Public Road, The Big Woods Trail. E: Shell
Road/0131 Road/Christmas Plantation Headquarters Road. F: Main ditch of the
Christmas Plantation and a possible route of the Chemin de Barataria/Camino Real

de Barataria. G:; 011 drill site No. 2,
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The Ring Levee Trail Parking Lot, possible oil drill site No. 3 drilling
pad. View showing the Ring Levee Trail on an oil drill site access road

at right, and trail to picnic area at left. 3/86. -

Rridge of the Shell Road/0ld Road/Christmas Plantation Hegdguarters
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i*Ds of baked bentonite clay used in o0il drilling fluid, and a glass
;i’sa.mple jar imprinted with the name of Schlumberger Company, from
‘111 site No.. 8.
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ENDNOTES

THE CROWN POINT OIL FIELD

1. The brief background history of the oil industry in
Jefferson Parish given in this chapter is derived from the
following articles published in the Jefferson Parish Yearly
Review, J. A. Shaw, "Lafitte 0il Field (Part Ome)~ (1936),
PpP. 49-53; R. C. Stewart, "Lafitte 0Oil Field (Part Two)"
(1936), pp. 53-57; R. C. Stewart, "Lafitte 0il Field"
(1937), pp. 37-39; Edgar Allen Poe, "Lafitte Oil Field
(1937), pp. 89-93; 0. S. Knisely, '"Lafitte 0il Field (Part
One): The Record Breaking 0il Pool in Jefferson Parish"
(1938), pp. 79-82; R. C. Stewart, "Lafitte 0Oil Field (Part
Two): Activities of the Texas Co. at Lafitte" (1938) p. 83;
Thomas Ewing Dabney, '"The Rising Tide of Black Gold" (1940),
pp. 12-26; H. B. Blanton, "Oil" (1944), pp. 138-46; David M.
Kleck, "0il is Ammo" (1951), pp. 32-38; "Decades of
Industrial Destiny" (1952), pp. 24-53; Ray M. Thompson, '"Oil
— The Biggest Little Word in the World" (1955), pp. 62-95;
Harry X. Bay, "The Two Birthdays of 0il" (1959), pp. 53-59,

‘ pp. 206-13; and J. A. Shaw, "Louisiana Leads the World in
Deep Drilling," Louisiana Conservation Review (Winter —
1937-8) pp. 9-13, p. 59.

2. G. 0. Coignet, "0il and Gas Map of Louisiana,"
compiled by the Louisiana Geological Survey, published by
the Department of Conservation, October 1947, Map Collec-
tion, University of New Orleans.

3. Locations and names of oil fields are given on maps of
"Jefferson Parish, Louisiana," prepared by the Highway
Department, 1958-61, and 1978-81, Map Collection, University
of New Orleans.

4, 0il exploration lease, Robert J. Perkins to Kelly Land
Company of Houston, Texas, June 28, 1928, C.0.B. 103, folio
525, JPCH; Thomas Ewing Dabney, "The Rising Tide of Black
Gold," Jefferson Parish Yearly Review (1940), p. 1l4; Ron
Baker, A Primer of Oilwell Drilling, 4th ed. (Austin:
University of Texas at Austin, 19/9), p. 1l6.

5. Descriptions of features in the study area associated
with 0il exploration are derived from those of Petroleum
Engineer Gerald L. Schroeder, Jr., Principal Engineer of
Boeing Petroleum Services, Inc. of Metairie, who volunteered
‘ to tour the study area and explain the original functions of
remnants of oil activity for the purpose of this study.

6. Mineral lease, Edna Seymour, wife of Peter Walsh, to
Anderson-Pritchard 0il Company, October 5, 1956, MLB 16,
folio 593, JPCH.



330. . |

7. Mineral lease, Ferdinand H. Dietze and Mrs. Charlotte

Amy Dietze De Limon to Pan American Petroleum Corporation, |
September 12, 1960, MLB 20, folio 669, JPCH; Mineral leases '
by the Pan American Perroleum Corporation for Squares 28,

33, 38, 43, 58, 63, 68, 29, 47, 54, and 44 are located in

MLB 22, £. 310, £. 344, E. 271, £. 343, f. 389, and £. 253,

JPCH.

g. Baker, A Primer of Oilwell Drilling, p. 11, p. 84, P.
94, Amendment to lease between F. H. Dietze and Mrs. C. A.

Dietze De Limon and Pan American Petroleum Corporation, of

Sgptember 12, 1960, dated September 18, 1963, MLB 23, folio
999, JPCH.

9. Baker, A Primer of Oilwell Drilling, p. 11, P- 83, p.
85; the Southern Crude Oil minera. leases are located in MLB
25, £. 268, £. 269, f. 270, £. 253, f£. 310, and £. 515,
JPCH; the Pelto Oil Company leases from Southdown Lands,
%%Eﬁ are located in MLB 29, f. 551, and MLB 30, £. 400,

10. Mineral lease, Ferdinand H. Dietze and Amy Dietze De
Limon, wife of Louis H. De Limeon, to T. Harry Kaplymn,
September 23, 1964, MLB 24, £. 964, JPCH; Agreement between
Sea Drilling Corporation and the Estate of William G.
Hellis, October 20, 1966, MLE 26, £. 553, JPCH; Right-of-way
agreement between F. H. Dierze and A. Dietze De Limon and
the Estate of W. G. Hellis and Sea Drilling Corp., March 22,
1968, MLB 27, £. 330, JPCH; Right-of-way agreement between
Canal Assets, Inc., and the Estate of W. G. Hellis and Sea
Drilling Corp., March 29, 1968, MLB 27, f. 328, JPCH.

11. Mineral leases, F. H. Dietze and A. Dietze De Limon to
J. A. Seglund, Inc., and P. J. Klentos, October 20, 1970,
and June 17, 1971, MLB 29, f. 311 and £. 564, JPCH.

12. Information contained in the following descriptions of
parts of the study area affected by oil operations was
obtained from the following -aerial photographs housed in the
New Orleans District of the U.S. Corps of Engineers: Roll
No. 9-61, Photos 196-201, Book 31, Vicksburg District,
November 9, 1961; Roll No. X-2, Photos 267-269, October 24,
1965; Roll No. X-3, Photos 190-201, Book 35, Memphis
District, November 4, 1966; Roll No. 55, Photos 180-185 and
201-206, October 17, 1969; Roll 71-44, Photos 46-47,

August 7, 1972.
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